

# Temi di Discussione

(Working Papers)

Collective action clauses: how do they weigh on sovereigns?

by Alfredo Bardozzetti and Davide Dottori







# Temi di discussione

(Working papers)

Collective action clauses: how do they weigh on sovereigns?

by Alfredo Bardozzetti and Davide Dottori

Number 897 - January 2013

The purpose of the Temi di discussione series is to promote the circulation of working papers prepared within the Bank of Italy or presented in Bank seminars by outside economists with the aim of stimulating comments and suggestions.

The views expressed in the articles are those of the authors and do not involve the responsibility of the Bank.

Editorial Board: Massimo Sbracia, Stefano Neri, Luisa Carpinelli, Emanuela Ciapanna, Francesco D'Amuri, Alessandro Notarpietro, Pietro Rizza, Concetta Rondinelli, Tiziano Ropele, Andrea Silvestrini, Giordano Zevi. Editorial Assistants: Roberto Marano, Nicoletta Olivanti.

ISSN 1594-7939 (print) ISSN 2281-3950 (online)

Printed by the Printing and Publishing Division of the Bank of Italy

# **COLLECTIVE ACTION CLAUSES: HOW DO THEY WEIGH ON SOVEREIGNS?**

by Alfredo Bardozzetti<sup>a</sup> and Davide Dottori<sup>b</sup>

#### Abstract

We study the effects of the adoption of collective action clauses (CACs) on government bond yields by exploiting secondary market data on sovereigns quoted in international markets from March 2007 to April 2011. CACs are assessed security by security. Using a panel data approach, we find a U-shaped effect of CACs on yields according to credit rating of the issuer. While the impact is negligible for the highest ratings, there emerges a significant yield discount for mid-ratings, which is smaller for bad ratings and possibly insignificant for the worst ratings. The relationship appears fairly robust across a number of robustness checks. This evidence may reflect the fact that CACs are valuable as they help orderly restructuring unless the perceived probability of default is too small. Nevertheless, at low ratings this relevance can be weakened by an increasing moral hazard risk.

# JEL Classification: F34, G15, H63.

Keywords: collective action clauses (CACs), sovereign yields, debt restructuring, default, panel data.

#### Contents

1.	Introduction	5							
2.	Literature review	7							
3.	The dataset and some group-wise distribution of CACs	9							
4.	The econometric analysis.								
	4.1 The benchmark econometric model	13							
	4.2 The regression results	16							
	4.3 Discussion	19							
5.	Sensitivity analysis								
	5.1 Classes of rating								
	5.2 Dynamic model	24							
	5.3 Repeated cross-sections	30							
	5.4 Controlling for non-linear effects of ratings	33							
	5.5 Different sample sizes, outliers-driven results, exclusion of worst ratings.								
	country effects								
6.	Conclusions								
0.	Appendix: tables and figures.								
	Bibliography	41							

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> Banca d'Italia, Economic Research Unit, Ancona Branch. E-mail: alfredo.bardozzetti@bancaditalia.it.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup> Banca d'Italia, Central Bank Operations Department, Public Debt Unit. E-mail: davide.dottori@bancaditalia.it.

# 1. Introduction

Collective action clauses (CACs) are contractual provisions allowing a qualified majority of bondholders to change the terms of a bond in a way which is legally binding for all holders, in order to facilitate debt restructuring.<sup>1</sup> Since the end of the 1990s, a relatively large number of papers have empirically addressed the relationship between the adoption of CACs on sovereign bonds and their yields.<sup>2</sup> Yet, no consensus has yet emerged on the sign of the link or even about the conditions under which such link could exist. In fact, disagreement among authors arises even on the methodology to follow when conducting the empirical analysis and the nature and structure of the dataset. This is a rather uncomfortable situation, as time is nearing when one of the biggest experiments in the field – the adoption of standardised mandatory CACs on all new euro area sovereign bonds from January  $2013^3$  – will be implemented.

Against this background, the ambition of this paper is to take stock of a number of lessons gained on both fronts – methodology and dataset – and to offer a wider encompassing approach to the issue of testing the relationship between the adoption of CACs and the bond yields.

We exploit a dataset running from March 2007 to April 2011 with yields on 292 securities listed on major international markets. Thanks to a new feature added by Bloomberg, we are able to determine for each bond whether a CAC is in place or not, overcoming one of the main pitfalls of many earlier studies, which relied on the bond's place of issue – whether New York or London – as a proxy to gauge the adoption of the CAC.

Acknowledgments. The authors are grateful for helpful remarks to two anonymous referees, to Michele Manna, to Sandro Momigliano, to participants in the economic research seminars held at Banca d'Italia in September 9, 2011 and at the Economic Department of the Polytechnic University of Marche in June 22, 2012, and to the participants in the international workshop "Sovereign Risk, Fiscal Solvency and Monetary Policy: Where Do We Stand?" held in San Servolo Island (Venice) in October 4-5, 2012. We are also thankful for useful assistance to Renzo Pin. All remaining errors are of course ours.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Examples of collective action clauses include those stating what majority has to be met in order to change the payment terms; those requiring a minimum threshold to initiate litigation or accelerate the bond; those allowing a qualified share of bondholders to prevent acceleration (so-called "deceleration clauses"); those stating if and how bondholders strictly related to the issuer should be excluded from the computation of quorum (so-called "disenfranchisement clauses"); etc.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Though the origin of CACs can be traced back to XIXth century, there was a revival of interest starting in mid-Nineties when CACs were suggested by the official sector and by researchers as a device to reduce resorting to public bailouts.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The main features of the CACs associated to euro area government bonds have been defined consistently with those commonly used under New York and English law. The introduction of standardised CACs aims to promote a uniform legal impact in all euro area countries, despite different legal systems and traditions, in order to preserve a level playing field. The detailed legal arrangements for the inclusion of CACs in euro area government securities have been developed by the EU's Economic and Financial Committee via the Sub-Committee on EU Sovereign Debt Markets. The work of the Sub-Committee was finalised in March 2012, following consultations with market participants and other stakeholders. Euro area CACs will enable creditors to take a qualified majority decision agreeing a legally binding change to the terms of payment when the debtor is unable to pay. Aggregation clauses will be included, allowing several securities issued by the same euro area country to be considered together in negotiations.

The sample is large enough to allow us to focus on sovereigns, enhancing comparability (this means that we choose not to enlarge the dataset with corporates, which could give rise to forms of spurious correlations). Our study encompasses a relatively large number of countries at various stages of development. This stands in sharp contrast with most of previous works, which focussed on emerging market issuers.

As a further add-on, previous studies (e.g., Becker *et al.*, 2003) have stressed the need for using secondary market data rather than primary market ones, as a way to mitigate instances of endogeneity, structural breaks and omitted variable bias. We follow suit compiling our dataset with secondary market yields (average of bid and ask rates) taken monthly, for a total of 50 time periods. The exceptional market patterns occurred throughout the sample should ease the identification of any effect of CACs on yields: in other words, if no such link emerges in the data at a time when the default of sovereigns was more than a marginal tail probability, then doubts should be cast on whether CACs do affect in any way the return asked by the investor when purchasing a security.

The bulk of our empirical analysis is about the estimation of a panel model. This is a relatively novel approach in this strand of literature, as most previous papers focused on a snapshot taken at a given time. The extension of the period under scrutiny (on top of the cross-section) offers two clear advantages: (i) it renders the analysis less dependent on the idiosyncrasies in the data at any specific point in time and (ii) it allows checking if and how the link under examination has evolved with market developments (e.g., the impact of a downgrading of the country issuing the bond).

Naturally, caution must be exerted when judging the aptitude of any empirical analysis to predict the outcome of the euro-area experiment, simply because there is no precedent of a number of rich countries adding standardized and identical CACs on their domestic bonds all at once. Nevertheless, the reliance on a broader range of issuers allows examining in better detail questions like the impact of such clauses on securities rated double or triple A, to name a few.

Anticipating the gist of our results, we find that the inclusion of CACs lowers most yields for bonds whose issuers fall in the middle of the rating scale. For very good ratings, no statistically significant difference in yields emerges due to the use of CACs, while for bad ratings the yield discount is smaller than the one for mid-ratings, to the point of becoming insignificant for the lowest ratings. This relation appears to hold across several robustness checks.

These results hint that collective action clauses are *ex post* useful for an ordered restructuring, should a default occur. So, a first condition is that the probability of default has to be non-negligible. The lack of this requirement helps explaining why, for best-rated countries, CACs do not seem to have any effect. Second, by making a default easier, CACs might also make it more

likely, if the issuer behaves opportunistically (the so-called *moral hazard* effect). The second requirement is thus that the greater *ex ante* moral hazard does not offset the *ex post* benefit. For worst rated countries, the moral hazard-enhancing effects of CACs is arguably larger than for better rated countries.

The rest of the paper is organised as follows. In Section 2 we review the empirical literature on the effect of collective action clauses on bond yields; in Section 3 we present the dataset and show some descriptive statistics. In Section 4 we report the econometric analysis on the panel data and comment on the main results; while in Section 5 we address several issues related to sensitivity analysis. Finally, Section 6 concludes.

#### 2. Literature review

Previous studies on the effect of collective action clauses on bond yields depict a number of different approaches, with respect to either the methodology or the dataset used. Subsequent research has often moved from criticizing the pitfalls of previous works, either from a methodological point of view, on the ground of sample-construction or both.

The first systematic study on the yield effect of CACs is acknowledged to Tsatsaronis (1999), who considered primary market data on a variety of international sovereign bonds issued after 1990. Since information on CACs was not available at bond level, the governing law of issuance was used as a proxy, *i.e.*, all bonds issued under UK's governing law were assumed to be endowed with collective auction clauses, while those issued under the US' were not, in accordance with the common practice in those countries. The author finds some evidence that CACs measured that way imply greater yields, but the difference is not statistically significant. Eichengreen and Mody (2000) assess the impact of CACs on borrowing costs, recognising the importance of controlling for endogeneity in the choice of governing law (used, as usual in the first strand of the literature, as a proxy for the very presence of CACs). Using the same proxy-dummy for CACs and primary market data on a wide set of bonds including corporates, the authors find that CACs reduce the interest burden for more credit-worthy issuers, arguing that well rated borrowers may benefit from issuing bonds subject to renegotiation-friendly governing law. In a later article Eichengreen and Mody (2004) focus on different sub-samples according to the rating group of the issuer: they find that CACs reduce yields for well-rated issuers but rise them for bad-rated ones, suggesting that for the latter the moral hazard risk implied by CACs is heavier than any benefit.

Becker *et al.* (2003) point out a number of pitfalls stemming from the use of primary market data, arguing that secondary market data should be preferred: the latter arguably rise less endogeneity issues (whereas the former would require modelling the supply side too), need less

control variables (since there is no need to account for general market conditions changing over time), and, presumably, benefit of more accurate data. However, selecting two dates, one in 1998 one in 2000, they get contrasting results: in the first one, CACs lower well rated bond yields and have no effect for bad-rated countries, while in the second CACs rise well-rated countries' yields and lower bad-rated borrowers' (which is basically the opposite of what Eichengreen and Mody found in 2004). Pooling data together, no significance emerges. The methodology of Becker *et al.* (2003) is followed by Gugiatti and Richards (2003), who consider for the first time post-2003 data, after the extensive debate on the inclusion of CACs in a big Mexican issuance in US dollars. The authors detect a negative effect of CACs, which nevertheless disappears when the interaction with rating is introduced.

Eichengreen *et al.* (2003) add four additional points in time, selected in correspondence with very high or very low levels of market credit risk premium. To reconcile previous contrasting results, they consider a triple interaction term between the risk premium mirrored by bond spreads, CACs and ratings, to capture the idea that the rating value at which the effect of CACs on yields turns from negative to positive depends on market sentiment. However, assessing the effects of CACs using a triple interaction term is not straightforward: the suggested interpretation of the random effect estimation is that, in good times, CACs are beneficial for all but the worse issuers, while in bad times, CACs penalize all but the best issuers. Nevertheless, Häseler (2009) points out that this is not a true reconciliation of previous findings, nor the results seem to be robust since, for instance, the coefficient on the triple interaction is barely significant. Moreover, only four time snapshots are considered, thus shedding doubts on the legitimacy to fully extend the relation with market sentiment; moreover, the validity of random effects estimation should be tested.

A more substantial criticism is that posed by Gugiatti and Richards (2004), who question the goodness of the governing law dummy as a proxy for the inclusion of CACs. Through a detailed inspection of a sample of bonds documentation they find that, already well before 2003, several bonds under the US governing law were endowed with CACs, while several securities under UK governing law were not.<sup>4</sup> The fallacy of the governing law proxy casts serious uncertainty on the extent results from previous literature were affected by that spurious identification.

This scepticism somehow slowed the pace of research on the topic. Only after some years the exploration of the effect of collective action clauses on yields was resumed by Bradley *et al.* (2008), who restricted the analysis to US law-issued bonds and investigated contractual terms to detect the actual presence of CACs. However, the sample remained quite heterogeneous, as it was made up of primary market data on bonds issued since 1986, thus encompassing very different frameworks and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Gelpern and Gulati (2008) also document a number of bonds endowed with CACs under the New York law which were issued before 2003.

situations and being exposed to the afore mentioned criticism on primary market data. The authors found some weak evidence of a negative effect of CACs on yields, but they warned that that might have hidden a more general structural break between the pre- and post-2003 periods (when post-2003 time dummies are added, the coefficient on the CACs dummy loses significance). Moreover, their study did not account for the interaction between CACs and rating. Finally, Häseler (2010) took advantage of the newly available CACs field in Bloomberg inquiries to collect a sample of secondary market data not limited to emerging markets, as customary in previous literature.<sup>5</sup> However, the effects of CACs are not the main focus of this study, so that the CACs dummy is included in one specification only (finding a negative but non-significant coefficient) and its interaction with issuer rating remained unexplored.

#### 3. The dataset and some group-wise distribution of CACs

Securities in the dataset are selected from Bloomberg according to the following criteria: issuance after January 1, 2003, denominated in US dollars, issued in Global, Euro MTN and Eurodollar markets;<sup>6</sup> issuer being either a national or a regional government; maturity type being either *bullet*, *putable* or *callable*;<sup>7</sup> bonds being either zero coupon or having a fixed or floating coupon. Besides the features described above, for each security the following fields are downloaded:<sup>8</sup> inclusion of CACs ; maturity date; amount issued; registration at SEC; issuer's country. The dataset is described in more detail in Table 1.

Yields are collected on a monthly basis from March 2007 to April 2011, totalling 50 observations.<sup>9</sup> In Figure A.1 of the Appendix, yields over time are shown through their mean, median, first and third quartile.

The bonds duration and the credit rating of the issuer country assigned by the three main rating agencies: Standard & Poor's, Fitch and Moody's are recorded over the same timespan. Ratings are mapped into a numerical variable starting from 1 for the best rating and increasing by 1 for each notch towards the worst rating. The composite rating variable used in the econometric

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Analysing the Bloomberg inquiry across countries and time, Häseler (2010) confirms that previous studies misclassified more than 20%, perhaps up to one third of bonds, by assuming a straight correspondence between the use of CACs and the governing law before 2003.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The Global Bond market refers to bonds issued and traded outside the country and outside the regulations of a single country. In Euro MTN market bonds are traded that require fixed dollar payments issued and traded outside the US and Canada; securities in this market are issued with maturities of less than five years and are generally part of a program. Eurodollar bonds are US-dollar denominated bonds held in a foreign institution outside both the US and the issuer's home nation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> With a bullet maturity the face value is paid on the maturity date of the bond. When maturity is callable the issuer has the faculty of redeeming the bond prior its natural maturity date; on the contrary, with a putable maturity the investor may mature the bond at an earlier date than the natural expiration date.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Other bond features are downloaded but not used in the analysis, as they displayed no variation with respect to the inclusion of CACs (dummies for private placement, subordinated debt, zero coupon, collateralized debt).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Yields are taken for each month at closing quote of the Friday before mid-month to limit irregularities related to calendar issues potentially occurring at the end/beginning of month or at the beginning of the week.

model is obtained averaging across the three agencies. Other time series variables collected at the same dates are the VIX index as a proxy for market volatility, the spread between triple A and triple B US corporate bonds as a measure for credit risk market premium, and the US benchmark yield at 10 years to account for patterns in the general level of yields over time.

		·····	
Variable	Unit	Description	Series features
Y	%	Mid-yield closing quote	Bond specific, time variant
CAC	Dummy	1 if bonds include CACs	Bond specific, time invariant
Size	Millions	Issued amount	Bond specific, time invariant
Duration	Years	Bond duration at date	Bond specific, time variant
Rating	Index. Scaled from 1 (AAA) to 18 (CCC)	Average of rating given by S&P, Fitch and Moody's	Country specific, time variant
Region	Dummy	1 if issued by regional government	Bond specific, time invariant
Call	Dummy	1 if bond is callable	Bond specific, time invariant
Put	Dummy	1 if bond is putable	Bond specific, time invariant
MTN /Eurodollar	Dummies	1 if traded in MTN / Eurodollar market (Global as reference category)	Bond specific, time invariant
SEC	Dummy	1 if registered at SEC	Bond specific, time invariant
VIX	Index	Chicago Board Option Exchange Market Volatility Index	Bond invariant, time variant
BBB-AAA spread	b.p.	Spread between AAA and BBB US corporate bonds 5 years tenure (bp)	Bond invariant, time variant
Bmk 10	%	US benchmark yields at 10 years tenure	Bond invariant, time variant

# **Dataset variables description**

Source: Bloomberg.

Number of bonds: 292.

Number of time periods: 50.

Note: Time range: March 2007 to April 2011, monthly observations. All time-dependent variables are taken at closing value of closest Friday before mid-month.

From a preliminary tabulation of the distribution of CACs across the dataset variables, a number of descriptive findings can be identified (see Figure 1). No clear-cut divide emerges for the use CACs depending on **issuer's type** or **issuance year**. Both national and regional governments have issued bonds with and without clauses, although states tend to do so relatively more frequently (62% of the sovereign securities in our dataset feature a CAC, vs 47% of regional or other instances of local government). The proportion of CACs in new issuances followed a decreasing trend until 2008, reverting to positive thereafter. Within the dataset, we have **countries** which never rely on CACs (Austria, Germany, Hungary), and countries which always or almost always adopt them (Brazil, Columbia, Peru, Uruguay). There exists also a mixed breed, as some countries have followed either one of the two approaches (e.g., Italy, Canada, Venezuela, Turkey, Indonesia, etc.). There does not seem to be a sort of turning point when the sovereign switches from one approach to the other, as they seem to continue to intertwine over time.

Table 1





# Distribution of Collective Action Clauses

(number of bonds in the sample)





(d) by initial rating distribution (Mar 2007)



(e) by final rating distribution (Apr 2011)





CACs are relatively more frequent for issuers in the middle of the **rating scale**, while very well rated and very badly rated issuers make less use of CACs. This will be a recurring theme in our analysis, as the advantages in bringing in such clauses may be diverse in a non-linear way depending on the issuer's rating, while those with a middle ranking could gain most. CACs are more likely to be present in bonds of longer **maturity**: the average tenure at issuance of securities endowed with collective action clauses is about 14 years and 2 months versus 8 years and 7 months for those without CACs. This could be related, *ceteris paribus*, to greater uncertainty and hence higher credit risk for bonds with longer maturity. There is no appreciable difference, instead, as far as the issued **amount** is concerned.<sup>10</sup>

## 4. The econometric analysis

The econometric analysis is carried out taking a panel data approach over three time sub-sets, which can be related to different economic situations. The first interval ranges from March 2007 to September 2008, in coincidence with the Lehman Brothers collapse. The second interval starts from October 2008 and ends in April 2010, including the aftermath of the financial crisis, the partial recovery from the banking crisis when market concerns about sovereigns initially were still in the background, to emerge thereafter. The third period starts in May 2010, when sovereigns came clearly under the spotlight.<sup>11</sup> This time division is also useful to take advantage from panel data

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Finally, as shown in Figure A.2 in the Appendix, the sample is made up mainly by bonds traded in the Global market (78% of which include CACs; while such a share is more balanced in the Eurodollar market: 50%). More than 90% of bonds in the sample have a standard bullet maturity, and little more than a half of them are endowed with CACs. Among securities not registered with the SEC (which make up almost 70% of sample), CACs are relatively more frequent than among registered bonds.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> While the first break-point is somehow uncontroversial, given the symbolic identification of the financial crisis with the Lehman collapse, the second one is, admittedly, more arbitrary. Though there is no clear-cut divide, we picked

techniques without increasing too much the time dimension and imposing constant coefficients over a long period. In Section 5 we also consider repeated cross-section regressions for each period as a robustness checks for the time pattern shown by estimated coefficients.

We perform the estimation allowing for non-linearities. In so doing, we do not split the sample in sub-groups of ratings, like done by others (Eichengreen and Mody, 2004, Becker *et al.*, 2003). Keeping the whole sample allows to gain in efficiency and helps detecting the genuine non-linear effect (if any) of collective action clauses on yields, as other controls variables are forced to have the same effect across ratings, and we do not have to make arbitrary sample restrictions or divides.

# 4.1. The benchmark econometric model

In order to take into account possible non-linearities in the impact of CACs according to the rating merit of the issuer, we consider two econometric specifications which permit such effects: in the first one we include the interaction of the CAC dummy with a linear distance from the middle of the rating scale for issuers either above or below it; in the second specification we consider a quadratic form.

The basic panel model is specified as follows:

$$y_{i,t} = \alpha + \beta' CACS_VARIABLES_{i,t} + \gamma' CONTROL_VARIABLES_{i,t} + \eta_i + \varepsilon_{i,t}$$
(1)

where the dependent variable is the log of the mid-yield in the secondary market of security *i* at month *t*,  $\eta_{i,t}$  represents a unit-specific time invariant effect, while  $\varepsilon_{i,t}$  is an idiosyncratic error which varies both across space and time. The *CACS\_VARIABLES* includes the set of the main variable of interest and depends on the specification (see below), while the *CONTROL\_VARIABLES* vector includes:

- *RATING<sub>i,t</sub>*, a measure of the rating of the security *i* at time *t* along a scale which takes value
   1 when rating is AAA and increases at each notch (say, 2 for AA+, 3 for AA, etc.);
- *SIZE*<sub>*i*</sub>, the log of the amount issued of the security;
- *REGION<sub>i</sub>*, that tells whether the issuer is a local government (in which case the variable takes value 1) or not (value 0);
- $DURATION_{i,t}$  and  $DURATION_SQ_{i,t}$ , compiled with bond's duration and its square;

the one between April and May 2010 as it is characterized by a number of considerable events and decisions: tensions on peripherals EU sovereign debts sharpened showing evidence of contagion, financial support to Greece was agreed (May 2), the Security Market Program was introduced (May 10), the euro-dollar swap line was reactivated (May 10), etc. Moreover, May 2010 marked the beginning of the widening of the spread with Eonia swap rates in opposite direction for core countries and peripherals (see Di Cesare *et al.*, 2012).

- *PUT<sub>i</sub>* and *CALL<sub>i</sub>*, dummy variables which take value 1 if the related options are embedded in the security and 0 otherwise;
- *EMTN<sub>i</sub>* and *EURODOLLAR<sub>i</sub>*, that specify the market where the security is negotiated with the Global Market being the reference point;
- *SEC*<sub>*i*</sub>, highlighting whether the bond is subject to registration with the SEC;
- $VIX_t$ , the VIX index at time *t* to capture market volatility;
- *BBBAAA<sub>t</sub>*, an index of the spread between triple A- and triple B-rated corporate bonds which may be regarded as a proxy for general market premium for credit risk;
- *BM10Y<sub>t</sub>*, the value of benchmark US yields at time *t* to account for general movement in yield levels.

In the linear specification, the CACS VARIABLES vector includes:

- $CAC_i$ , a dummy variable which takes value 1 if the clause is adopted and 0 otherwise;
- CACDISTGOOD<sub>i,t</sub> and CACDISTBAD<sub>i,t</sub>, the interaction between CAC<sub>i</sub> and the linear distance of issuer rating (RATING<sub>i,t</sub>) from the middle rating either for better (CACDISTGOOD<sub>i,t</sub>) or worse (CACDISTBAD<sub>i,t</sub>) rated issuers, as in Table 2:

						Table 2				
(	Linear spec	ification: CACDIS	STGOOD	and CAC	DISTBAD	1 )				
Rating	Conteraction of CAC with linear distance from the median value of the rating scaleRatingRATINGLinear distanceCACDISTGOODCACDIST									
notches	KAIING	from median value	CAC=Y	CAC=N	CAC=Y	CAC=N				
AAA	1	8	8	0	0	0				
AA+	2	7	7	0	0	0				
AA	3	6	6	0	0	0				
AA-	4	5	5	0	0	0				
A+	5	4	4	0	0	0				
А	6	3	3	0	0	0				
A-	7	2	2	0	0	0				
BBB+	8	1	1	0	0	0				
BBB	9	0	0	0	0	0				
BBB-	10	1	0	0	1	0				
BB+	11	2	0	0	2	0				
BB	12	3	0	0	3	0				
BB-	13	4	0	0	4	0				
B+	14	5	0	0	5	0				
В	15	6	0	0	6	0				
B-	16	7	0	0	7	0				
CCC	17	8	0	0	8	0				

Significant coefficients of the same sign on both *CACDISTGOOD* and *CACDISTBAD* mirror a non-monotonic effect of CACs depending on ratings: it would support the occurrence of a U-shaped (inverse U-shaped) if the coefficient is positive (negative).

In the quadratic specification, CACS\_VARIABLES are:

•  $CAC_i$ , as above;

- - - - -

•  $CACRTG_{i,t}$  and  $CACRTG_SQ_{i,t}$ : the interaction between  $CAC_i$  and the issuer's rating at time t and the interaction between  $CAC_i$  and the square of issuer's rating.

A positive (negative) significant coefficient on  $CACRTG\_SQ_{i,t}$  would suggest a convex (concave) relations between CAC and rating, possibly non-monotonic if  $CACRTG_{i,t}$  has the opposite sign.

We view these two specifications as complementary as one can mitigate the drawbacks of the other: on the one hand, the linear specification produces more intuitive estimates as the sign on the coefficients of interest is already informative on the shape of the net effect, and it does not overload the weight at the extreme of the rating scale; on the other hand, the linear form is centred by construction on the mid-rating, thus being more rigid, and it features a kink, while the quadratic form is more flexible and smoother. None of the specifications constraints the effects of CAC to be symmetric for well- and badly-rated issuers. In the linear case, the symmetry between the two effects can be easily tested through a standard post-estimation parametric test.

The use of a panel data model allows us to exploit techniques precluded to cross-section analysis. In particular, the presence of unit-specific unobserved characteristics, which may cause wrong inference or inconsistent estimation in a cross-section framework, can be tested and controlled for.<sup>12</sup>

More in detail, we perform a fixed-effect (FE) estimation for each and every time sub-set, in order to detect evidence of unit-specific effects and obtain robust estimates against correlations between these effects and the regressors. The FE approach transforms the original data by taking the so-called "within variation", *i.e.*, the deviation from the individual mean taken over time. By doing so, the FE estimator involves a huge loss of efficiency, since as many unit factors have to be estimated as there are units in the sample. Even more importantly, the FE technique prevents any inference on time-invariant regressors (thus including  $CAC_i$ ), because all the "between variation" is cancelled out. A straight way to estimate these regressors would be adopting a random effect (RE) technique, which is also more efficient than the FE one. In the RE estimator, the unit-specific effects are dealt with as if they were drawn from a random distribution. However, the RE estimator is consistent only as long as the unit-specific factors and the regressors are exogenous; this condition can be tested in each sub-set through a Hausman-type test (Hausman, 1978).<sup>13</sup> When the Hausman statistics does not bring evidence against the RE estimator, the Breusch-Pagan test

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> See Baltagi (2008) and Wooldridge (2001) for a comprehensive presentation of panel data techniques.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> The test compares the time-variant coefficients estimated through random-effects with those obtained from the fixed-effects estimator. Under the null hypothesis both estimators are consistent, the RE one being preferred, if the null is not rejected, for being more efficient, otherwise, besides the FE, other types of estimators have been developed to identify coefficients on time-invariant variables, such as Hausman-Taylor (1981) or error component two stage least squares (see Baltagi, 2008). In the few previous works based on a panel data framework, the RE estimator has been taken without reporting the test to support its consistency.

(Breusch Pagan, 1979) allows to discriminate between the RE and the pooled OLS estimators: since the former basically belongs to the GLS-type, a failure to reject the null can be interpreted in favour of the latter, being it the best linear unbiased estimator.

Once the estimator is selected, we proceed to inference and to test the significance of the net effect of collective action clauses at each rating.

# 4.2. The regression results

Results from the panel regressions in each sub-set are reported in Table 3, for the linear and the quadratic specifications. The quality of fit appears adequate with a  $R^2$  slightly above 0.70 in each sub-sets. In each sub-set and specification, the random effect estimator proves to be preferable, given the failure to reject the null hypothesis in the Hausman tests, combined with the strong rejection of the null hypothesis in the Breusch-Pagan tests. The control variables generally take the expected signs, but not all of them add substantial explanatory power to the model. RATING has a positive and significant coefficient, implying that issuers with worse rating (which means a larger value of the variable, according to our scale) have to concede larger yields. Coefficients on the two duration variables suggest that bonds with greater duration are more exposed to interest rate risk and hence have to pay higher yields, however this occurs at decreasing rates because of a convexity effect. The VIX index tends to increase yields in market situations characterized by high volatility, while it is important to control also for *BM10y* as it captures overall movements in yields. There is also a positive effect of general credit risk premia (BBBAAA), but it is not significant, possibly because already captured by bond-specific credit risk measures such as rating. The yield tends also to rise when a call option is embedded, since the investor wants to hedge the risk that the security is called back before maturity, typically when their price is low, but the significance is not high.<sup>14</sup> The expected sign but no statistical significance is found for REGION and SIZE.<sup>15</sup>

Let us now focus on the variables related to the use of collective auction clauses. In the linear specification, the coefficient on CAC is negative, strongly significant and with a fairly similar magnitude across all sub-sets. The interaction variables *CACDISTGOOD* and *CACDISTBAD* both show a positive sign in all the sub-set and they are generally at least 95% significant, except for *CACDISTBAD* in the second sub-sample. The statistical test for symmetry between these two

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> On the other hand, the evidence for the coefficient PUT is less regular, but this could reflect the scarcity of this option in the sample bonds (only three instances are present).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> The sign is expected because regional governments might have to grant a yield premium when compared to states. Similarly, bonds with lower outstanding might have to concede a liquidity premium. With respect to liquidity, there are other indicators which could be considered in place of the amount issued. A natural candidate in this respect would be the bid-ask spread; however its inclusion among explanatory variables would highly increase endogeneity issues. Since the main objective of the present work is not to identify the effects of liquidity on yields, we keep the amount issued.

variables reveals that the null of equal coefficients cannot be rejected in sub-set I and III, while it can be in sub-set II, but only at 90% significance level.

The net effect on yields due to the use of CACs, ceteris paribus, is given by:

# $\beta_1 CAC + \beta_2 CACDISTGOOD + \beta_3 CACDISTBAD$

Hence, it depends on the position in the rating scale. In the middle of the rating spectrum,  $\beta_1$  prevails and our estimates predict that bonds endowed with CACs enjoy a discount with respect to bonds which are not. For issuers placed at both ends of the rating scale, this effect is contrasted by the one that moves in opposite direction, related respectively to  $\beta_2$  and  $\beta_3$ . The net effect along the rating scale and its 95% confidence interval is charted in Figure 2. Since  $\beta_2$  is larger than  $\beta_3$ , the net effect tends to vanish more quickly toward the well-rated issuers, however only in sub-set II the difference acquires some significance, since worse-rated issuers continue to enjoy some discount from featuring CACs. In sub-set I and III the net impact of collective action clauses at the extremes is not statistically different from zero. In all samples, there is a significant yield discount for bonds of issuers in the middle of the rating scale (loosely speaking, from single A to single B). In the quadratic specification, the coefficients on the interactions between CAC and rating (and its square) are always positive and significant. Their implication in terms of net effects are less easy to read from the point estimate than in the linear case, but their sign suggests that the net impact might be U-shaped. This is confirmed in Figure 2, where the net effect:

# $(\beta_1 CAC + \beta_2 CACRTG + \beta_3 CACRTG_SQ)$

is plotted against the rating spectrum for each sub-set.

The net effect of CACs implied by the quadratic specification is similar to the one under the linear specification: in all sub-sets, issuers in the middle of the rating scale enjoy a discount for bonds endowed with CACs; for well-rated issuers the effect is largely non-significant in all sub-samples; bad-rated issuers may enjoy some discount but to a lesser extent than mid-rated issuers, moreover this discount does not appear always clearly significant and in fact it is often not. Both specifications seem to suggest that in the second sub-set there is more asymmetry, with the net effect for the bad-rated being in between the well-rated and the mid-rated issuer's ones.

Finally, both the linear and the quadratic specifications show wider confidence intervals for bad-rated issuers, so that the net impact of CACs is harder to predict with accuracy.<sup>16</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> This may partly be due to a greater heterogeneity, suggesting investigation of the determinants of this variability to further research.

						Table 3					
			Benchmark panel	model regressions							
			(dep. var.: y <sub>it</sub> , l	ng mid-yield)							
		Linear specification	l	Quadratic specification							
	Sub-set I	Sub-set II	Sub-set III	Sub-set I	Sub-set II	Sub-set III					
CAC	-0.427 ***	-0.416 ***	-0.395 ***	0.156	0.170 *	0.173 **					
CACDISTGOOD	0.059 ***	0.061 ***	0.058 ***								
CACDISTBAD	0.038 **	0.019	0.038 **								
CACRTG				-0.106 ***	-0.098 ***	-0.100 ***					
CACRTG SQ				0.005 ***	0.004 ***	0.005 ***					
RATING – –	0.092 ***	0.098 ***	0.088 ***	0.092 ***	0.098 ***	0.089 ***					
EMTN	0.031	0.014	-0.051	0.032	0.016	-0.049					
EURODOLLAR	0.098	0.118	0.107	0.102	0.122	0.113					
SEC	0.011	-0.013	0.050	0.007	-0.016	0.046					
CALL	0.299 **	0.340 **	0.267 **	0.287 **	0.330 **	0.253 **					
PUT	-0.119	0.065	-0.065	-0.124	0.061	-0.075					
REGION	0.052	0.082	0.008	0.046	0.081	0.006					
SIZE	-0.030 *	-0.026	-0.012	-0.031 *	-0.027	-0.013					
DURATION	0.399 ***	0.394 ***	0.302 ***	0.402 ***	0.397 ***	0.303 ***					
DURATION SQ	-0.021 ***	-0.021 ***	-0.015 ***	-0.021 ***	-0.022 ***	-0.016 ***					
$VIX - \sim$	0.298 ***	0.356 ***	0.385 ***	0.301 ***	0.358 ***	0.388 ***					
BBBAAA	0.038	0.012	0.009	0.038	0.013	0.010					
BM10y	0.520 ***	0.573 ***	0.606 ***	0.527 ***	0.579 ***	0.617 ***					
2											
$R^2$	0.72	0.73	0.73	0.72	0.73	0.73					
Estimator	RE	RE	RE	RE	RE	RE					
Hausman ( <i>p</i> -val)	0.83	$0.44^{(c)}$	0.10	0.18	$0.98^{(c)}$	0.43					
Breusch Pagan (p-val)	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00					
Jointly null ( <i>p</i> -val) ( <sup>a</sup> )	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00					
Symmetry $(p-val)$ ( <sup>b</sup> )	0.36	0.07	0.28								
Groups	285	281	282	285	281	282					
Time obs	19	19	12	19	19	12					
Avg Obs per group	10.0	10.3	6.3	10.0	10.3	6.3					

Stdandard errors robust and clustered by bonds. Legend: \*\*\* 99% significant, \*\* 95% significant, \* 90% significant. RE: Random Effects Estimator. Sub-periods: I: March 2007-September 2008; II: October 2008-April 2010; III: May 2010-April 2011

Constant coefficients not shown. (a) In the linear specification: test for coefficients on CACDISTGOOD and on CACDISTBAD jointly equal to zero; in the quadratic specification: test for CAC, CACRTG and  $CACRTG_SQ$  jointly equal to zero. (<sup>b</sup>) In the linear specification: Test for coefficients on CACDISTGOOD equal the one on CACDISTBAD. (<sup>c</sup>) The Hausman test could not be computed as the empirical variance covariance matrix is not positive definite. The reported statistics refer to an analogous regression excluding BBBAAA (highly insignificant in the original model), for which the Hausman statistics was computable. The two regressions yield almost identical coefficients and levels of significance. Results are available from the authors.

#### 4.3. Discussion

The intuitions behind this evidence are perhaps not surprising. Collective action clauses are meant to assist ordered debt restructuring when a default event occurs. Hence, they are valuable *ex post*, so the market may well be keen to acknowledge a value to CACs as they help limiting disordered default, holdout risks, prisoners' dilemma outcomes, and delays detrimental both to the debtor and to the majority of creditors. The benefits of majority restructuring through collective action clauses have been modelled, amongst others, by Eichengreen *et al.* (2003), Weinschelbaum and Wynne (2005), Ghosal and Thampanishvong (2007) and Fernandez and Fernandez (2007). Kletzer (2003) shows that CACs improves efficiency in lending and repayment, thus improving welfare relative to unanimous consent clauses.

However, the effectiveness of collective action clauses is subordinated to default being a non-negligible chance. For very well-rated issuers, the probability of default is so small that the market does not really care whether CACs are included, as they are less likely to be helpful; hence, there is basically no reason to acknowledge a discount for them.

Besides that, another condition for collective action clauses being valuable to creditors is that the probability of default is, loosely speaking, exogenous to the inclusion of these clauses. Nevertheless, by making debt-restructuring easier, CACs might make it also more likely, or at least might make this suspicion arise. This is the so-called moral-hazard enhancing (*ex ante*) effect which spurs a demand for a yield premium, in the opposite direction with respect to the ordered-restructuring (*ex post*) effect. Several studies have formalized the moral hazard channel in theoretical models: see, e.g., Weinschelbaum and Wynne (2005) and Ghosal and Thampanishvong (2007), while the issue has been empirically investigated by Esho *et al.* (2004).<sup>19</sup>

Hence, these two contrasting effects can be detected: *ex ante*, the effect of increasing the (perceived) default probability and, *ex post*, the effect of reducing the loss given default. Our empirical investigation shows that the issuer's rating matters for the market in assessing their relative importance. One of the greatest costs of default for debtors willing to maintain access to markets is in terms of reputation and risk of being precluded that access, see, e.g., Eaton and Gersovitz (1981) and Sturzenegger and Zettelmeyer (2006).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> The risk that CACs may encourage opportunistic behaviour is claimed also by Dooley (2000) and Cline (2001).



# Net impact of CACs by rating and sub-sets

(solid lines: point estimates; dashed lines: 95% confidence intervals)

Figure 2

Sub-sets: I: March 2007-September 2008; II: October 2008-April 2010; III: May 2010-April 2011.

These constraints are much weaker for badly rated debtors, who have a low reputation anyway and are typically less reliant on international bond markets for funding. In this respect, Reinhart and Rogoff (2009) remark that poorly rated countries have usually less access to international bond markets, being their funding sources mainly made up by subsidies and loans from the official sector, and have higher propensity to debt repudiation. Hence it is not surprising to find that market might show higher moral-hazard fears about collective action clauses for bad-rated countries rather than for well rated ones.

The empirical evidence suggests that for well-rated issuers the inclusion of collective action clauses has no substantial impact on ratings because the event of default is so unlikely that any benefit from an ordered restructuring would not matter much. For bad-rated issuers, even if the event of a true default is concrete, the benefit of an *ex post* ordered default is partially counterbalanced by the risk that the default might be declared opportunistically. For sufficiently bad ratings, at least in sub-set I and III, this risk premium appears high enough to almost wipe out the other effect. At medium levels of ratings, the net yield discount is the highest because the chance of a true default is not negligible, while the risk of an opportunistic default is still low given that the higher reputations costs and the fear of foiling its access to the market work as incentives for the issuer to meet its obligations.

In sub-set II, a net yield discount seems to be acknowledged on a wider range of ratings moving toward the end of the rating scale. A possible explanation could be found in the flight away from stock market to bond market in the aftermath of the crisis, when sovereign debt was not yet perceived as a serious issue and government bonds were reputed a safer option. In this situation, the search-for-yield outside of the stock market might have led to invest in more risky countries, while acknowledging at the same time a value to the greater safety promised by CACs.

# 5. Sensitivity analysis

In this section we perform a number of robustness checks in order to assess the validity of the benchmark model results. In particular, we consider: (i) a different mapping of ratings by grouping them into four classes (Section 5.1); (ii) a dynamic specification for the panel model, allowing for a direct effect of the lagged dependent variable (Section 5.2); (iii) a cross-section analysis repeated by the period (Section 5.3); (iv) an extension to disentangle a possible non-linear effect of ratings not interacted with CACs (Section 5.4); and (v) several other checks in order to address problems of different sample sizes, outliers, etc. (Section 5.5).

#### 5.1. Classes of rating

In the basic specifications, rating values are mapped into a scale starting from 1 for AAA issuers and increasing by 1 for each notch (see Section 4.1). This implies a constant partial impact of rating moving from a notch to the next one. However, there are rating levels which may be seen as more "critical" than others, e.g., the passage from investment grade (at least triple B) to the speculative grade. In order to take that into account, we construct a different measure of credit standing by sub-grouping ratings notches into four classes.<sup>20</sup> However, in so doing we lose information in terms of regressors' variance, because changes in ratings within a certain class are not considered; on the other hand, differences in ratings that might be expected to be more significant for the market are highlighted.

The rating classes (*RTGCLS*) are created as follows: class 1: ratings from AAA to AA-; class 2: ratings from A+ to BBB-; class 3: ratings from BB+ to B+; class 4: ratings lower than B+. In this way, incidentally, investment grade ratings belong to the first two classes, while speculative grade ratings belong to the last two.

The following model is considered:<sup>21</sup>

$$y_{i,t} = \alpha_i + \beta' (CAC_i \otimes RTGCLS_{i,t}) + \gamma' CONTROL_VARIABLES_{i,t} + \eta_i + \varepsilon_{i,t}$$
(2)

Results from random effects estimates are shown in Table 4. As expected, the rating classes coefficients are significantly positive and show a monotonic pattern in all sub-sets. Control variables maintain the same sign and – generally – significance as in the benchmark model. As for the CACs' effect, the first two rating-classes feature coefficients with a negative sign but never significant. The third class of ratings shows the largest coefficient in absolute values; it is negative and highly significant in all sub-sets. The fourth class shows a negative coefficient as well, but it is smaller in absolute terms and less statistically significant: actually, it is significant at 95% only in sub-set III and not even at 90% in sub-set I.

With respect to model (1), model (2) displays a higher degree of collinearity among regressors, a fact which tends to produce less efficient estimates, thus lowering significance levels. Despite that, it seems that the main implication from the benchmark specifications can be retained (see Figure 3):<sup>22</sup> for rather good ratings, the yield effect due to collective action clauses seems to be negligible; there is instead a discount for worse ratings, which, however, does not occur monotonically, as it is smaller (and possibly not highly significant) for worst-rated issuers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> We thank an anonymous referee for this suggestion.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> The *CONTROL\_VARIABLES* vector is the same as in the benchmark model, except, of course, for the exclusion of *RATING*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> The net impact of collective action clauses and its significance is given by the straight test on the *CAC* coefficient for rating class 1 and by the test for the null CAC + CACRTGCLS2 = 0 for class 2, 3 and 4.

(dep. variable: y <sub>ii</sub> log of mid-yield)								
	Sub-set I		Sub-set	Π	Sub-set	III		
CAC	-0.084		-0.084		-0.016			
CAC*RTGCLS2	-0.015		-0.030		-0.191			
CAC*RTGCLS3	-0.348	***	-0.339	***	-0.322	***		
CAC*RTGCLS4	-0.261		-0.253	*	-0.291	**		
RTGCLS2	0.343	**	0.383	**	0.540	***		
RTGCLS3	0.904	***	0.905	***	0.896	***		
RTGCLS4	1.162	***	1.192	***	1.125	***		
EMTN	-0.050		-0.075		-0.074			
EURODOLLAR	0.116		0.133		0.145			
SEC	0.047		0.046		0.090			
CALL	0.258	*	0.299	**	0.196	**		
PUT	-0.135		0.038		-0.095			
REGION	0.002		0.034		0.007			
SIZE	-0.033	*	-0.029		-0.013			
DURATION	0.415	***	0.411	***	0.314	***		
SQUARE DURATION	-0.022	***	-0.023	***	-0.016	***		
VIX	0.320	***	0.372	***	0.398	***		
BBBAAA	0.018		-0.007		-0.002			
BM10y	0.536	***	0.571	***	0.631	***		
$R^2$	0.68		0.69		0.68			
Estimator	RE		RE		RE			
Hausman (p-val)	n.c.	(°)	0.072		n.c.	(°)		
Breusch Pagan (p-val)	0.000		0.000		0.000			
Jointly null (p-val) ( <sup>a</sup> )	0.002		0.001		0.002			
Joint equality (p-val) ( <sup>b</sup> )	0.287		0.212		0.163			
Groups	286		282		283			
Time obs	19		19		12			
Avg Obs per group	10.0		10.2		6.3			

# Panel regressions: rating classes specification

Legend: \*\*\* 99% significant, \*\* 95% significant, \* 90% significant. Standard errors robust and clustered by bonds. Sub-periods: I: March 2007-September 2008; II: October 2008-April 2010; III: May 2010-April 2011. Constant coefficients not shown. (\*) Test for coefficients on CAC, CACRTGCL2, CACRTGCL3 and CACRTGCL4 jointly equal to zero. (<sup>b</sup>) Test for coefficients on CAC, CACRTGCL2, CACRTGCL3 and CACRTGCL4 jointly equal. (°) Not computable. The Hausman test could not be computed as the empirical matrix is not positive semi definite.

# Figure 3





Rating classes: 1 ∈ [AAA, AA–]; 2 ∈ ]A+, BBB–]; 3 ∈ ]BB+, B+]; 4 ∈ ]B+, ] Sub-sets: I: March 2007-September 2008; II: October 2008-April 2010; III: May 2010-April 2011

#### 5.2. Dynamic model

The benchmark model in (1) represents a static panel model. In order to check whether it suffers from an omitted variable problem due to possible significant effects of lagged values of the dependent variables, we turn to a dynamic panel model where  $y_{i,t-1}$  is allowed to have an impact on  $y_{i,t}$  as in:

# $y_{i,t} = \alpha_i + \rho y_{i,t-l} + \beta' \underline{CACS \ VARIABLES_{i,t}} + \gamma' CONTROL VARIABLES_{i,t} + \eta_i + \varepsilon_{i,t}$ (3)

As a preliminary step, we perform a panel data unit root test  $\dot{a} \, la$  Fisher (1932) for each of the three sub-sets, as described in Maddala and Wu (1999).<sup>23</sup> In all sub-sets the null of unit root is strongly rejected, hence the series do not appear to be integrated and they can be handled as stationary, thus supporting a specification like (3).

In a dynamic panel model, the OLS and the fixed effect estimator are inconsistent and biased respectively upwards and downwards (see Bond, 2002). The inconsistency relies in  $E(v_{i,t-1}, \eta_i) \neq 0$ ; the within transformation is not able to eliminate this problem, though it can attenuate it for a high T. A well-known approach to solve this issue is the so-called Diff-GMM or Arellano-Bond estimator,<sup>24</sup> which is based on a preliminary transformation of the data to eliminate the unit-specific effect (typically by first-differencing). It then exploits a number of orthogonal conditions between the transformed equation and lagged values of endogenous and/or predetermined regressors.<sup>25</sup> If there are exogenous regressors, they can be used as instruments too. However, the Diff-GMM proves to be scarcely useful in our framework, given that one of the main interesting regressors (CAC) is time-invariant; similarly, the fixed-effect estimator too – albeit its bias would be lowered by the high time dimension – cannot provide an estimate for this variable, as it would eliminate it through the within transformation. In situations such as this, the so-called SYS-GMM estimator developed by Blundell and Bond (1998), can be used. Provided some assumptions on initial conditions are met,<sup>26</sup> this technique combines moment conditions on the first difference with the level equations further moments conditions, relating the (lagged) first difference of endogenous or predetermined regressors to the equation in level (possibly in addition to other exogenous

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Since the panel is unbalanced because bonds enter and exit the sample according to their issuance and maturity dates, several panel unit root tests are not implementable. The Fisher panel unit root test is instead suitable for unbalanced panel as well, as it based on a combination of p-values from Phillips-Perron unit root tests of cross-section units. See Maddala and Wu (1999).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> See Arellano and Bond (1991).

For pre-determined regressors, lags can be used since step one as it orthogonal to the first differenced disturbance:  $E(x_{i,t-1} \Delta \varepsilon_{i,t} = 0)$ ; instead for endogenous regressors (such as the lagged dependent variable), the first lag would be correlated so that only lags since step two can be used as instruments:  $E(x_{i,t-1} \Delta \varepsilon_{i,t}) \neq 0$ ;  $E(y_{i,t-1} \Delta \varepsilon_{i,t}) \neq 0$ ;  $E(x_{i,t-2} \Delta \varepsilon_{i,t}) = 0$ ;  $E(y_{i,t-2} \Delta \varepsilon_{i,t}) = 0$ .

In particular it is necessary to assume that  $E(\Delta y_{i,2} \eta_i) = 0$ , which amounts to assume a restriction on the behaviour of  $y_{i,l}$ . Intuitively, it has to be assumed that the same model has generated the  $y_{it}$  series for "long enough" prior to the sample period; i.e., for a sufficiently long time to ensure that the true start-up process has become negligibly small. Clearly, this in turns depend on the persistence of the series. See Blundell and Bond (1998).

regressors).<sup>27</sup> With the Sys-GMM estimator, coefficients for time invariant regressors can be estimated as well.

Though the efficiency of the SYS-GMM estimator asymptotically improves with more instruments, in small samples it may perform poorly (Ziliak, 1997). In particular, the exogeneity test on instruments as a whole and on their sub-sets may lose power. For this reason, the use of instruments should be parsimonious and standard errors should be computed through the Windmeijer (2005)'s correction for small samples.<sup>28</sup> We take that into account in the selection of the maximum number of lags for gmm-type instruments and in the computations of standard errors.

Results and econometric tests are shown in Table 5 for the linear specification and in Table 6 for the quadratic one. The Arellano-Bond statistics on the autocorrelation of residuals yields the expected results for a proper panel GMM model, exhibiting correlation at the first order and no correlation at the second order.<sup>29</sup> The robust Hansen statistics for overidentification of restrictions is not rejected both for the whole group and for different sub-sets of instruments.<sup>30</sup> Also, the difference in Hansen statistic for sub-sets of instruments, aimed at detecting whether their specific use as instruments is correct, is never rejected for a standard 95% significance level.

Control variables generally maintain the sign and significance levels; in particular, controlling for rating, duration and its square, market volatility, and the general level of yields is important, as expected. The lagged dependent variable is significant in none of the three sub-sets whatever the specification,<sup>31</sup> thus providing a robustness check for the validity of the static model. Though this might look surprising at first glance, let us recall that, *ceteris paribus*, yields tend to co-move, and we already controlled for the general level of yields, as well as for credit risk and volatility risk factors.

Going into details for CACs-related variables, the following can be observed. In the linear specification (Table 5), the highly significant and negative coefficient for CACs is confirmed, while the interaction variables *CACDISTGOOD* and *CACDISTBAD* are still positive, but only the former

If a regressor at time *t* is correlated only with the idiosyncratic disturbance at time *t*, but not with the unobserved unit-specific heterogeneity  $\eta_{i}$ , then its lagged value can be used as an instrument in the level equation:  $E(x_{i,t-1} (\eta_i + \varepsilon_{i,t})) = 0$ . Even if a regressor at time *t* is correlated with both the idiosyncratic disturbance at time *t* and with the observed unit-specific heterogeneity  $\eta_i$ , it might be that its lagged first difference it is not, and hence it can be used as an instrument in the level equation:  $E(\Delta x_{i,t-1} (\eta_i + \varepsilon_{i,t})) = 0$ .

All estimations are performed through the routine xtabond2 implemented for STATA as shown in Roodman (2006).  $\frac{29}{29}$  If the model does not show in  $\frac{29}{29}$  is the routine for STATA as shown in Roodman (2006).

If the model dynamics is correctly specified,  $\varepsilon_{i,t}$  is uncorrelated with  $\varepsilon_{i,t-1}$ . Therefore, by construction:  $E(\Delta \varepsilon_{i,t} \Delta \varepsilon_{i,t-1}) = -\varepsilon_{i,t-1}^2 \neq 0.$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> The Hansen test may be weakened by too many instruments, yielding *p*-values inflated towards 1. For this reason the number of lags is chosen parsimoniously. *p*-values on Hansen statistics in Table 5 and Table 6 do not suggest a lack of power problem.

The lagged dependent variable's coefficient tends to rely between the OLS one (upward biased) and the Fixed Effect one (downward biased), considerably more shifted toward the latter as the fixed-effect bias is reduced by the large T dimension.

is significant in all sub-sets. On the other hand, the test for symmetry cannot be rejected in sub-sets I and III, while in sub-set II it can be (but not strongly). These findings are quite similar to the outcome of the benchmark linear (static) specification.

Also, from the quadratic specification (Table 6) we find that it is important to consider interactions between collective action clauses and ratings (coefficients on interacted variables are generally significant), though inferring the net effect of CACs from them is less straightforward. For this purpose, the resulting net effect of collective action clauses across the rating scale is plotted in Figure 4.

In the bottom panel, the U-shaped form of the net impact implied by the quadratic specification resembles the one found in the benchmark (static) version. As in the static models, the second sub-set displays a lower degree of symmetry in both the linear and the quadratic specifications, implying that the discount acknowledged to collective action clauses affected worst-rated issuers more than in the other sub-sets. Hence, this finding too appears rather robust to a dynamic extension of the benchmark model.

# Dynamic panel regressions: linear distance specification

	(dep. var.: y <sub>it</sub> , log	of mid-yield)	
	Sub-set I	Sub-set II	Sub-set III
Vt-1	-0.013	-0.021	-0.013
CAC	-0.379 ***	-0.539 ***	-0.313 **
CACDISTGOOD	0.063 ***	0.103 ***	0.063 **
CACDISTBAD	0.044 *	0.042	0.033
RATING	0.068 ***	0.095 ***	0.083 ***
EMTN	-0.080	-0.216 *	-0.040
EURODOLLAR	0.151	0.052	0.163
SEC	0.087	0.098	0.026
CALL	0.169	0.075	0.182 **
PUT	-0.039	0.041	0.015
REGION	-0.042	-0.026	0.049
SIZE	0.039	0.000	0.019
DURATION	0.304 ***	0.221 ***	0.204 ***
DURATION SO	-0.017 ***	-0.011 ***	-0.011 ***
VIX	0 384 ***	0 424 ***	0 479 ***
BBBAAA	-0.087	-0.084	-0.198 **
BM10v	0.549 ***	0.620 ***	0.431 ***
2	0.0 19	0.020	0.101
Estimator	SYS-GMM	SYS-GMM	SYS-GMM
Ar-Bond AR(1) (p-val)	0.00	0.00	0.00
Ar-Bond AR(2) (p-val)	0.46	0.31	0.71
Hansen test	0.35	0.52	0.70
Sub-set of instruments		·	
GMM instruments for levels			
Hansen ( <i>p</i> -val)	0.58	0.69	0.28
Difference ( <i>p</i> -val)	0.20	0.31	0.94
Gmm (L.ly)			
lags	1-3	1-2	1-3
Hansen ( <i>p</i> -val)	0.56	0.49	0.38
Difference ( <i>p</i> -val)	0.21	0.52	0.88
Gmm (cacrtg cacrtg2)			
lags	1	1	1
Hansen ( <i>p</i> -val)	0.28	0.62	0.64
Difference ( <i>p</i> -val)	0.47	0.07	0.81
Gmm (rating4 110y lvix)			
lags	1	1	1
Hansen ( <i>p</i> -val)	0.34	0.98	0.74
Difference ( <i>p</i> -val)	0.48	0.13	0.54
IV (cac mtn eurdol sec call pr	ut regio) level eq.		
Hansen	0.30	0.49	0.59
Difference	0.76	0.53	0.87
Tests on CACDISTGOOD, C.	ACDISTBAD	·	
Joint null (p-val)	0.01	0.00	0.11
Symmetry (p-val)	0.51	0.05	0.35
Sample			
Groups	243	241	214
time	19	19	12
avg per group	8.0	8.19	5.7
Two-step standard errors clus	stered for bonds and rob	ust to small sample dim	ension are used.

Dynamic panel	regressions:	quadratic	specification
()	an wan in loa	of mid wield)	

	(dep. var.: $y_{it}$ , log	of mid-yield)	
	Sub-set I	Sub-set II	Sub-set III
$y_{t-1}$	-0.018	-0.011	-0.013
CAC	0.254 **	0.400 ***	0.354
CACRTG	-0.116 ***	-0.158 ***	-0.134 **
CACRTG SQ	0.006 ***	0.008 ***	0.007 *
RATING	0.085 ***	0.089 ***	0.082 ***
EMTN	-0.077	-0.233 *	-0.063
EURODOLLAR	0.127	0.044	0.169
SEC	0.061	0.124	0.016
CALL	0.129	0.125	0.183 **
PUT	-0.010	0.051	0.029
REGION	0.076	-0.025	0.010
SIZE	0.059	0.004	0.019
DURATION	0.225 ***	0.186 ***	0.193 ***
DURATION SO	-0.012 ***	-0.009 **	-0.010 ***
VIX	0.401 ***	0.475 ***	0.504 ***
BBBAAA	-0.071	-0.130 *	-0.223 **
BM10y	0.660 ***	0.648 ***	0.432 ***
Estimator	SYS-GMM	SYS-GMM	SYS-GMM
Ar-Bond AR(1) ( <i>p</i> -val)	0.00	0.00	0.00
Ar-Bond AR(2) (p-val)	0.44	0.35	0.71
Hansen test	0.32	0.35	0.67
Sub-set of instruments			
GMM instruments for levels	1	I	
Hansen ( <i>p</i> -val)	0.45	0.78	0.27
Difference ( <i>p</i> -val)	0.28	0.11	0.93
Gmm (L.ly)			
lags	1–2	1–3	1–3
Hansen ( <i>p</i> -val)	0.32	0.39	0.46
Difference ( <i>p</i> -val)	0.37	0.20	0.78
Gmm (cacrtg cacrtg2)	1 . 1		
lags	1	1	1
Hansen (p-val)	0.47	0.67	0.66
Difference ( <i>p</i> -val)	0.28	0.13	0.45
Gmm (rating4 l10y lvix)	1		
lags	1	1	1
Hansen (p-val)	0.81	0.44	0.72
Difference ( <i>p</i> -val)	0.05	0.34	0.52
IV (cac mtn eurdol sec call p	ut regio) level eq.	1	
Hansen	0.27	0.40	0.63
Difference	0.74	0.22	0.62
Tests on CAC, CACRTG, CA	4CRTG_SQ		
Joint null ( <i>p</i> -val)	0.00	0.00	0.01
Joint null interactions	0.00	0.00	0.07
(p-val)	0.00	0.00	0.07
Sample	1	<b>.</b> I	• • •
Groups	243	241	214
time	19	19	12
avg per group	8.0	8.19	5.7



Net impact of CACs by rating and sub-sets

(solid lines: point estimates; dashed lines: 95% confidence intervals)

Figure 4

Sub-sets: I: March 2007-September 2008; II: October 2008-April 2010; III: May 2010-April 2011

### 5.3. Repeated cross-sections

The panel estimation produces synthetic results, encompassing several observations through time. However, data-pooling may hide a different pattern within each sub-set. In order to address this issue, we perform cross-section regressions for each sample period. Note that this approach itself represents a contribution to research as cross-section based regressions on secondary market data up to now have considered only a few dates, thus being subject to the risk of drawing general conclusions out of very particular market situations.

The equation estimated at each time *t* by OLS with robust standard errors is the same as in (1) but for unit-invariant time-variant regressors (*BM10Y*, *BBBAAA*, and *VIX*), which are excluded because of perfect collinearity.<sup>32</sup> The  $R^2$  coefficients is above 0.70 in every period and we checked that control variables maintain the expected sign when significant. The point estimates and their significance for the variables related to collective action clauses are reported in Table 7 for either specifications. Being generally significant, they confirm the results of the panel analysis. For instance, in the linear specification we can observe the negative significant coefficient of CAC and the positive significant effect on *CACDISTGOOD* and *CACDISTBAD* in almost all of the cross-section regressions (see also Figure 5), which support the hump-shaped effect of collective action clauses (Figure 6). Not surprisingly, the months with lower significance for *CACDISTBAD* and more frequent rejections of the symmetrical effects hypothesis are concentrated in sub-set II, for which the panel analysis also revealed a similar outline. The quadratic specification as well supports in every period the variation in a non-linear way of the effect of collective action clauses with rating (see the significance on *CACRTG* and *CACRTG\_SQ*).

When we consider the net effect produced by collective action clauses on yields through time, our results approach the ones from the panel analysis: the effect is negative and higher in absolute terms for issuers approximately in the middle of the rating scale, and non-significant for those at the extremes (see Figure 6).

The graphs equivalent of Figure 5 and Figure 6 for the quadratic specification are shown in the Appendix. The cross-section analysis essentially confirms the results of the panel approach, which remains the preferred one as it produces more parsimonious results, exploits information better, allows for a more proficient control over unobserved heterogeneity, and makes it possible to account for the effects of time series variables (common across units), describing the general market situation, in order to disentangle the genuine CACs' effect.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> For the sake of space, the results of each regression are not reported, but they are available from the authors upon request.

Table 7

Repeated	cross-sections:	coefficients	estimates	and significance
nepcateu	cross sections.	coefficients	countaces	and significance

-	Linear specification				Quadratic specification										
	CA	~		rgoor	CACDN	TR 4 D	Ea test	CA	IC	Quadrati	C SPC RTG		i GSO	Igintly	No.
Mar 2007	_0.000	*	0.016	**	0.015	JIDAD	Lq.test	0.074	***	_0.035	**	0.002	*	**	95
Apr 2007	-0.050	*	0.010	**	0.013		*	0.074	**	-0.033	*	0.002		*	8J 84
May 2007	-0.003	*	0.014	***	0.003		*	0.071	***	-0.023	*	0.001		*	04 94
Jun 2007	-0.072	***	0.010	***	0.004			0.004	***	-0.027	***	0.001	**	***	86 86
Jul 2007	-0.155	***	0.025	***	0.010	*		0.092	***	-0.043	***	0.002	***	***	80
Aug 2007	-0.144	***	0.023	***	0.021			0.097	***	_0.047	***	0.003	**	***	00 95
Sep 2007	-0.144	***	0.024	***	0.014	*		0.092	***	-0.043	***	0.002	***	***	85 85
Oct 2007	-0.103	***	0.020	***	0.023	***		0.102	***	-0.055	***	0.003	***	***	0.5 9.4
Nov 2007	-0.213	***	0.034	***	0.033	**		0.122	***	-0.000	***	0.003	***	***	04 97
Dec 2007	_0.176	***	0.030	***	0.020	**		0.125	***	_0.053	***	0.003	***	***	00
Jan 2008	-0.100	***	0.031	***	0.020	***		0.113	***	-0.055	***	0.003	***	***	90
Feb 2008	-0.207	***	0.033	***	0.039	**		0.124	***	-0.003	***	0.004	***	***	92
Mar 2008	0.200	***	0.043	***	0.057	***		0.177	***	0.005	***	0.005	***	***	93
Apr $2008$	-0.299	***	0.034	***	0.032	***		0.233	***	-0.090	***	0.005	***	***	94
Apr 2008	-0.200	***	0.047	***	0.043	***		0.200	***	-0.087	***	0.005	***	***	97
Jup 2008	-0.343	***	0.032	***	0.054	***		0.179	***	-0.099	***	0.000	***	***	100
Juli 2008	-0.337	***	0.043	***	0.031	***		0.129	***	-0.090	***	0.000	***	***	100
Jul 2008	-0.290	***	0.040	***	0.040	***		0.115	***	-0.085	***	0.005	***	***	109
Aug 2008	-0.309	***	0.055	***	0.038	**		0.167	***	-0.101	***	0.000	***	***	108
Sep 2008	-0.412	***	0.050	***	0.005	**		0.100	***	-0.115	***	0.007	**	***	108
New 2008	-0.452	***	0.050	***	0.079	*		0.12/	T	-0.121	**	0.008	*	**	113
Nov 2008	-0.506	***	0.060	***	0.079	т 4-4-		0.081		-0.105	**	0.006	т 	4 4 4	104
Dec 2008	-0.390	***	0.045	***	0.049	***		0.050	باد باد	-0.085	***	0.005	***	***	106
Jan 2009	-0.628	***	0.08/	***	0.090	***		0.242	**	-0.160	***	0.009	***	***	114
Feb 2009	-0.769	***	0.095	***	0.123	***		0.173		-0.1/8	***	0.011	***	***	119
Mar 2009	-0.680	***	0.083	***	0.10/	***		0.151		-0.156	***	0.010	***	***	124
Apr 2009	-0.696	***	0.082	***	0.075	**		0.076	di.	-0.121	**	0.006	**	**	106
May 2009	-0.715	***	0.096	***	0.100	***		0.216	*	-0.162	***	0.009	***	***	132
Jun 2009	-0.786	***	0.109	***	0.111	***		0.279	**	-0.193	***	0.011	***	***	134
Jul 2009	-0.587	***	0.089	***	0.092	**		0.286	*	-0.158	***	0.009	**	***	133
Aug 2009	-0.3/9	***	0.075	***	0.03/		*	0.356	***	-0.125	***	0.006	**	***	184
Sep 2009	-0.410	***	0.084	***	0.032		**	0.389	***	-0.128	***	0.006	***	***	188
Oct 2009	-0.480	***	0.093	***	0.043		**	0.416	***	-0.14/	***	0.00/	***	***	187
Nov 2009	-0.41/	***	0.084	***	0.026		**	0.407	***	-0.13/	***	0.006	***	***	203
Dec 2009	-0.492	***	0.096	***	0.042		**	0.459	***	-0.164	***	0.008	***	***	207
Jan 2010	-0.379	***	0.076	***	0.036	*	**	0.387	***	-0.135	***	0.007	***	***	213
Feb 2010	-0.338	***	0.071	***	0.034		*	0.364	***	-0.121	***	0.006	***	***	218
Mar 2010	-0.307	***	0.063	***	0.036	*		0.303	***	-0.104	***	0.005	***	***	227
Apr 2010	-0.311	***	0.062	***	0.038	*		0.289	***	-0.102	***	0.005	***	***	226
May 2010	-0.370	***	0.072	***	0.033		*	0.324	***	-0.115	***	0.005	***	***	224
Jun 2010	-0.437	***	0.077	***	0.071	**		0.341	***	-0.146	***	0.008	***	***	221
Jul 2010	-0.487	***	0.078	***	0.055	**		0.269	**	-0.131	***	0.007	***	***	230
Aug 2010	-0.551	***	0.087	***	0.058	**		0.295	**	-0.145	***	0.007	***	***	236
Sep 2010	-0.562	***	0.091	***	0.055	*		0.326	***	-0.154	***	0.008	***	***	237
Oct 2010	-0.585	***	0.098	***	0.065	**		0.370	**	-0.166	***	0.008	***	***	241
Nov 2010	-0.590	***	0.097	***	0.065	**		0.368	***	-0.170	***	0.009	***	***	241
Dec 2010	-0.520	***	0.093	***	0.050	*		0.388	***	-0.156	***	0.008	***	***	245
Jan 2011	-0.480	***	0.088	***	0.058	**		0.380	**	-0.150	***	0.008	***	***	246
Feb 2011	-0.432	***	0.088	***	0.044	*	*	0.419	***	-0.143	***	0.007	***	***	246
Mar 2011	-0.471	***	0.090	***	0.049	*		0.390	***	-0.143	***	0.007	***	***	247
Apr 2011	-0.394	***	0.076	***	0.037			0.325	**	-0.118	***	0.005	**	***	249

Legend: \* 90% significance, \*\* 95% significance; \*\*\* 99% significance. Equality test is between *CACDISTGOOD* and *CACDISTBAD*; Joint test is for the joint significance of *CACRTG* and *CACRTG\_SQ*.

Figure 5

# Coefficients and confidence interval for CAC and CACDISTGOOD/BAD



(solid lines: coefficient OLS estimates; dashed lines: robust 95% confidence interval) (left-hand scale: CACDISTGOOD/BAD; right-hand scale: CAC)

Figure 6

# **Repeated cross-sections with linear specification Significance of net effects of CACs through rating and time** (shadowed cells denote 95% significance)

						1						Т							1						-		
Rating			200	)7			2008						2009					2010						20	11		
Kating	Ι	Π	Π	II	IV	Ι		II	Ш	[	IV		Ι		II	]	Π	IV		Ι	I	[	III	IV		Ι	
AAA																											
AA+																											
AA																											
AA-																											
A+																											
А																											
A-																											
BBB+																											
BBB																											
BBB-																											
BB+																											
BB																											
BB-																											
B+																П											
В																											
B-																											
CCC																						Π					
Results fro	om t	wo ta	ils <i>t-</i> te	ests f	for the	null h	ypotł	nesis:	$H_0$ : $\beta$	$C_1 CA$	IC +	$\beta_2 c$	CACI	DIST	rGO(	$OD_r$	; for	r = 0, .	,8 t	for ra	atings	fror	n BBB	to A	AA;		
$H_0: \beta_1 CAC + \beta_3 CACDISTBAD_r = 0$ for $r = 1,, 8$ for ratings from BBB to CCC.																											

# 5.4. Controlling for non-linear effects of ratings

In model (1) we have considered the interactions of the CAC dummy with rating measures, *i.e.*, the distance from the centre of the rating spectrum in the linear specification and the rating itself (and its square) in the quadratic specification. However, among the control variables we have considered only the level of ratings and not these other measures (*i.e.*, the rating distances in the linear specifications and the rating squared in the quadratic one) as further control variables. In fact, the very effect of rating on yields might be non-linear and U-shaped, irrespectively from the presence of collective action clauses.

Controlling for that would require adding the following variables: *DISTGOOD* or *DISTBAD* (measuring the distance from the centre of the rating spectrum respectively for better and worse ratings) in the linear specification;<sup>33</sup> *RATING\_SQ* (measuring the square of rating) in the quadratic specification. Unfortunately, multicollinearity of regressors would become a serious issue after the inclusion of these regressors, as they are highly dependent by (in fact, constructed from) some of the other explanatory variables. With multicollinearity, standard errors are amplified, thus reducing the significance level and making inferences less clear.

Taking that into account, we nonetheless perform an augmented version of the quadratic specification (including also *RATING\_SQ*) as a robustness check to assess whether the new variable shows up to be significant and whether the U-shaped effect of collective action clauses is preserved.<sup>34</sup> As shown in Table 8,<sup>35</sup> the new variable *RATING\_SQ* is non-significant in either of the three sub-sets. On the other hand, the significance levels of CAC-related variables are lower too because of multicollinearity, though their sign and point estimate are preserved. However, it is interesting to observe that, in spite of the enlarged standard errors, the test for the interaction variables being jointly equal to zero are rejected in all sub-sets at 99%. Therefore, after this robustness check, the effect of collective action clauses appears to still depend on the rating as in the benchmark model. The net effects displayed in Figure 7 show indeed a picture substantially similar to that in Figure 2, though with larger and more irregular confidence intervals because of higher regressors' collinearity.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Actually, only one of these variables can be used as regressor because of multicollinearity, unless *RATING* itself is dropped.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> We present the results for the quadratic specification because its multicollinearity problems are less prominent than in the linear specification.

See Table A.1 in the Appendix for complete results.

Panel regressions: quadratic specification adding $RATING_SQ$													
(dep. var.: $y_{ib}$ log of mid-yield)													
	Sub-set I Sub-set II Sub-set III												
CAC	0.088	0.062	0.156										
CACRTG	0.056	0.042	0.079 **										
CACRTG SQ	-0.076 *	-0.051	-0.092 **										
RATING	0.004	0.002	0.005 *										
RATING_SQ	0.002	0.003	0.001										
Jointly null (p-val) ( <sup>a</sup> )	0.000	0.011	0.004										
Interaction (p-val) ( <sup>b</sup> )	0.000	0.084	0.007										
Legend: *** 99% significant, ** 95%	6 significant, * 90% significant	nt.	·										
Std. Err. adjusted for clusters in bond	Std. Err. adjusted for clusters in bonds.												
Sub-periods: I: March 2007-September 2008; II: October 2008-April 2010; III: May 2010-April 2011.													
Constant coefficients not shown. For	Constant coefficients not shown. For further details see Table A.4 in the Appendix.												
(a) Test for coefficients on CAC, CA	CRTG, CACRTG_SQ jointly	equal to zero.											

(<sup>b</sup>) Test for coefficients on CACRTG, CACRTG\_SQ jointly equal to zero.

## Figure 7

Table 8

Net impact of CACs by rating and sub-sets. Quadratic Specification adding RATING SO





# 5.5. Different sample sizes, outliers-driven results, exclusion of worst ratings, country effects

The sample size is not constant over time as new bonds are issued and others expire or go out of the sample because their residual life falls below one year (see the last column of Table 7). The changes in the sample size can raise the issue of whether results are due to the presence of CACs of different vintages and recomposition effects so that the aggregate evidence hides a different pattern for CACs of the same vintage. This is also relevant as we have a dummy-type information on collective action clauses, but we do not know whether and how they differ from each other. We address this point by restricting the sample only to bonds available since the first period (March 2007) and then checking whether these subsamples share similar implications with the benchmark

model. Cross-section regressions on the restricted sample actually confirm the negative sign for *CAC* and the positive ones for *CACDISTGOOD* and *CACDISTBAD*, though the latter is not always significant. The implied net effect of CACs on yields is negative and significant in the middle of the rating scale, while it tends to vanish at the extremes.<sup>36</sup> As in the benchmark model cross-sections, the equality test on *CACDISTGOOD* and *CACDISTBAD* coefficients can be rejected only in very few cases (5 out of 50).

Another potential issue is whether results may be driven by some outliers. Some bonds appear indeed to be outliers once the effects of explanatory variables are controlled for. Several of them belong to few countries, in particular Venezuela.<sup>37</sup> We tackle this potential problem by adding a Venezuela dummy to the basic model, but the benchmark results are substantially all confirmed, in particular those related to the effects of CACs (see Figure A.5 in the Appendix).<sup>38</sup> Note that adding a country dummy for each and every country is not very useful in our main sample: as shown in Figure 1, plenty of countries with just few issuances make up the sample; so that including a dummy per country would increase collinearity and reduce the degree of freedom, recommending restraint. Finally, we exclude from the sample the worst-rating categories, suspected to be misleading. Again, the estimation on the restricted sample gives results similar to the benchmark's.<sup>39</sup>

# 6. Conclusions

Collective Action Clauses are contractual provisions included in the issues of sovereign bonds to ensure orderly debt restructuring. The European Council of 24-25 March 2011 decided that standardized and identical CACs would be included in all new euro area government bonds from 2013 onwards. The conclusions of the March meeting state that "the inclusion of CACs in a bond will not imply a higher probability of default or of debt restructuring relating to that bond". On the other side, De Grauwe (2011) provides some evidence of the bond spread increases following the first proposal to introduce CACs on the euro area stage.

The impact of CACs on borrowing costs is an empirical issue over which research has not yet found a sound consensus. In this work we update previous studies encompassing the financial and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Results, not reported here for space limitation, are available from the authors upon request. With respect to the benchmark results, we observe a slightly larger region of significant negative impacts on yields in the middle of the time interval, and a slightly smaller one in the last part of the time interval.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> Venezuela is the leading country for number of defaults in the modern era: 10 since its independence in 1830 (Reinhart and Rogoff, 2009).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> For the sake of space only graphs for the net effects are reported. Estimation are available from the authors upon request. The inclusion of Venezuela dummy increases the  $R^2$  coefficient by about 0.04.

For the sake of space estimation results are not displayed but are available from the authors upon request.

the sovereign debt crisis. Moreover, we contribute to the literature by a more homogenous sample and a more accurate bond-specific tracking for the inclusion of CACS.

The empirical analysis suggests that the effect of CACs on yields may vary in a non-linear way according to the issuer's rating. In particular, a U-shaped impact of collective action clauses on yields seems to emerge, with a discount acknowledged to issuers in the middle of the rating scale and no effect for those at the extremes. Our interpretation is that for mid-rated issuers' creditors the advantage from CACs is greater because the probability of default is not negligible (so CACS are actually valuable) and at the same time the debtor is less suspected of opportunistic behaviour. Instead, for very well rated issuers the chance of default is low, thus reducing the value of ordered restructuring, while very badly-rated issuers face lower reputational costs and are more suspected of moral hazard if they choose to include CACs that favour debt restructuring. Noticeably, across all specification and robustness checks, irrespectively of rating, there emerges no evidence that the inclusion of collective action clauses implies an increase, *ceteris paribus*, in sovereign bond yields.

# A. Appendix



# A.1 Further descriptive analysis

Figure A.2



**Distribution of Collective Action Clauses** (number of bonds in the sample)





																Figu	re A.4
	Significance of net effects of CACs through rating and time (quadratic specification, shadowed cells denote 95% significance)																
		2007			2008				2009				2010				2011
	Ι	II	III	IV	Ι	II	III	IV	Ι	II	III	IV	Ι	II	III	IV	Ι
AAA																	
AA+																	
AA																	
AA-																	
A+																	
А																	
A-																	
BBB+																	
BBB																	
BBB-																	
BB+																	
BB																	
BB-																	
B+																	
В																	
B-																	
CCC																	
$H : \beta + \beta C 4 C D S T = 0 $																	

Results from two tails *t*-tests for the null hypothesis:  $H_0: \beta_1 + \beta_2 CACDIST_r = 0$  for r = 0, ..., 8 (the steps of rating distance are 8).

Figure A.3

# A.3 Further robustness checks on the panel model

			Table A.1
Panel regression	s: quadratic specif	ication adding R	ATING SO
8	(dep. var.: v <sub>it</sub> , log of	mid-vield)	_ ~
	Sub-set I	Sub-set III	Sub-set III
CAC	0.088	0.062	0.156
CACRTG	0.056	0.042	0.079 **
CACRTG_SQ	-0.076 *	-0.051	-0.092 **
RATING	0.004	0.002	0.005 *
RATING_SQ	0.002	0.003	0.001
EMTN	-0.014	-0.055	-0.062
EURODOLLAR	0.085	0.096	0.108
SEC	0.023	0.012	0.050
CALL	0.297 **	0.347 **	0.256 **
PUT	-0.108	0.073	-0.072
REGION	0.013	0.031	-0.002
SIZE	-0.033 *	-0.030	-0.013
DURATION	0.403 ***	0.399 ***	0.303 ***
SQUARE DURATION	-0.021 ***	-0.022 ***	-0.016 ***
VIX	0.299 ***	0.355 ***	0.388 ***
BBBAAA	0.038	0.011	0.010
BM10y	0.523 ***	0.569 ***	0.616 ***
$R^2$	0.72	0.72	0.72
Estimator	Random effects	Random effects	Random effects
Hausman ( <i>p</i> -val)	0.18	0.00	0.00
Breusch Pagan ( <i>p</i> -val)	0.00	0.00	0.00
Jointly null ( <i>p</i> -val) ( <sup>a</sup> )	0.00	0.01	0.04
Interaction $(p-val)$ ( <sup>b</sup> )	0.00	0.08	0.07
Groups	285	281	282
Time obs	19	19	12
Avg Obs per group	10.0	10.3	6.3

 Avg Obs per group
 10.0
 10.5

 Legend: \*\*\* 99% significant, \*\* 95% significant, \* 90% significant.
 Std. Err. adjusted for clusters in bonds.

 Sub-periods: I: March 2007-September 2008; II: October 2008-April 2010; III: May 2010-April 2011.

 Constant coefficients not shown.

 (<sup>a</sup>) Test for coefficients on CACC, CACRTG, CACRTG\_SQ jointly equal to zero.

 (<sup>b</sup>) Test for coefficients on CACRTG, CACRTG\_SQ jointly equal to zero.

# Figure A.5





Sub-sets: I: March 2007-September 2008; II: October 2008-April 2010; III: May 2010-April 2011.

# References

Arellano, M. and S.R. Bond, 1991. "Some Tests of Specification for Panel Data: Monte Carlo Evidence and an Application to Employment Equations", *Review of Economic Studies*, No. 58, pp. 277-97.

Baltagi, B.H., 2008. "Econometric Analysis of Panel Data", John Wiley & Sons, 4<sup>th</sup> edition.

**Becker, T., Y. Thaicharoen and A. Richards, 2003.** "Bond Restructuring and Moral Hazard: Are Collective Action Clauses Costly?", *Journal of International Economics*, Vol. 61, No. 1 (October), pp. 127-61, Elsevier.

Blundell, R.W. and S.R. Bond, 1998. "Initial Conditions and Moment Restrictions in Dynamic Panel Data Models", *Journal of Econometrics*, No. 87, pp. 115-43.

Bradley, M., J. Cox and G. Gulati, 2008. "The Market Reaction to Legal Shocks and Their Antidotes: Lessons from the Sovereign Debt Market", SSRN eLibrary, Working Paper, No. 1138801.

Breusch, T.S. and A.R. Pagan, 1979. "A Simple Test for Heteroscedasticity and Random Coefficient Variation", *Econometrica*, Vol. 47, No. 5 (September), pp. 1287-94.

Bond, S.R., 2002. "Dynamic Panel Data Models: A Guide to Micro Data Methods and Practice", *Portuguese Economic Journal*, No. 1, pp. 141-62.

Cline, W.R., 2001. "The Management of Financial Crises", in H. Siebert (ed.), *The World's New Financial Landscape: Challenges for Economic Policy*, pp. 55-81, Berlin: Springer.

**De Grauwe, P., 2011.** "A Fragile Eurozone in Search of a Better Governance", CESIFO, Working Paper, No. 3456 (May).

**Di Cesare, A., G. Grande, M. Manna and M. Taboga, 2012.** "Recent Estimates of Sovereign Risk Premia for Euro-area Countries", Banca d'Italia, Questioni di economia e finanza (Occasional Papers), No. 128.

**Dooley, M., 2000.** "Can Output Losses Following International Financial Crises Be Avoided?", NBER, Working Paper, No. 7531 (February).

Eaton, J. and M. Gersovitz, 1981. "Debt with Potential Repudiation: Theory and Estimation", *Review of Economic Studies*, Vol. 48, No. 2, pp. 289-309.

**Eichengreen, B. and A. Mody, 2000.** "Would Collective Action Clauses Raise Borrowing Costs?", NBER, Working Paper, No. 7458, National Bureau of Economic Research, Inc.

**Eichengreen, B., K. Kletzer and A. Mody, 2003.** "Crisis Resolution: Next Steps", IMF, Working Paper, No. 03/196, International Monetary Fund.

Esho, N., I.G. Sharpe and N. Tchou, 2004. "Moral Hazard and Collective Action Clauses in the Eurobond Market", Working Paper, University of New South Wales.

Fernández, K. and R.B. Fernández, 2007. "Willingness to Pay and the Sovereign Debt Contract", *Journal of Applied Economics*, Universidad del CEMA, Vol. 10 (May), pp. 43-76.

Fisher, R.A., 1932. Statistical Methods for Research Workers, Oliver and Boyd, Edinburgh, 4<sup>th</sup> Edition.

Gelpern, A. and G.M. Gulati, 2008. "Innovation After the Revolution: Foreign Sovereign Bond Contracts since 2003", *Capital Markets Law Journal*, Vol. 4, No. 1, pp. 85-103.

**Ghosal, S. and K. Thampanishvong, 2007**. "Does Strengthening Collective Action Clauses (CACs) Help?", CDMA, Working Paper Series, No. 0711, Centre for Dynamic Macroeconomic Analysis, revised Oct 2007.

**Gugiatti, M. and A. Richards, 2003.** "Do Collective Action Clauses Influence Bond Yields? New Evidence from Emerging Markets", International Finance, Wiley Blackwell, Vol. 6, No. 3 (Winter), pp. 415-47.

**\_\_\_\_\_\_, 2004.** "The Use of Collective Action Clauses in New York Law Bonds of Sovereign Borrowers", *Georgetown Journal of International Law*, Vol. 35, No. 4, pp. 815-36.

Häseler, S., 2009. "Collective Action Clauses In International Sovereign Bond Contracts – Whence The Opposition?", *Journal of Economic Surveys*, Vol. 23, No. 5, pp. 882-923 (December), Wiley Blackwell.

——, 2010. "Trustees Versus Fiscal Agents and Default Risk in International Sovereign Bonds", *European Journal of Law and Economics*, Vol. 34, Issue 3 (December), pp. 425-48, Springer Netherlands.

Hausman, J.A., 1978. "Specification Tests in Econometrics", *Econometrica*, Vol. 46, No. 6 (November), pp. 1251-71.

Hausman, J.A. and W.E. Taylor, 1981. "Panel Data and Unobservable Individual Effects", *Econometrica*, Vol. 49, pp. 1377-98.

Kletzer, K., 2003. "Sovereign Bond Restructuring: Collective Action Clauses and Official Crisis Intervention", available at: <a href="http://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/wp/2003/wp03134.pdf">www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/wp/2003/wp03134.pdf</a>.

Maddala, G.S. and S. Wu, 1999. "A Comparative Study of Unit Root Tests with Panel Data and a New Simple Test", *Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics*, No. 61, p. 631-52.

**Reinhart, C.M. and K.S. Rogoff, 2009.** "This Time Is Different: Eight Centuries of Financial Folly", Princeton University Press.

**Roodman, D.M., 2006.** "How to Do Xtabond2: An Introduction to 'Difference' and 'System' GMM in Stata", Center for Global Development, Working Paper, No. 10340.

Sturzenegger, F. and J. Zettelmeyer, 2006. "Has the Legal Threat to Sovereign Debt Restructuring Become Real?", Business School. Working Papers, Universidad Torcuato Di Tella.

**Tsatsaronis, K., 1999.** "The Effect of Collective Action Clauses on Sovereign Bond Yields", *BIS Quarterly Review: International Banking and Financial Market Developments* (November), pp. 22-23.

Weinschelbaum, F. and J. Wynne, 2005. "Renegotiation, Collective Action Clauses and Sovereign Debt Markets", *Journal of International Economics*, Vol. 67, No. 1 (September), pp. 47-72, Elsevier.

**Windmeijer, F., 2005.** "A Finite Sample Correction for the Variance of Linear Efficient Two-step GMM Estimators", *Journal of Econometrics*, Vol. 126, pp. 25-51.

Wooldridge, J.M., 2001. Econometric Analysis of Cross Section and Panel Data, MIT Press.

**Ziliak, J.P., 1997.** "Efficient Estimation with Panel Data When Instruments Are Predetermined: An Empirical Comparison of Moment-condition Estimators", *Journal of Business & Economic Statistics*, Vol. 15, No. 4 (October), pp. 419-31.

#### RECENTLY PUBLISHED "TEMI" (\*)

- N. 872 Selecting predictors by using Bayesian model averaging in bridge models, by Lorenzo Bencivelli, Massimiliano Marcellino and Gianluca Moretti (July 2012).
- N. 873 *Euro area and global oil shocks: an empirical model-based analysis*, by Lorenzo Forni, Andrea Gerali, Alessandro Notarpietro and Massimiliano Pisani (July 2012).
- N. 874 Evidence on the impact of R&D and ICT investment on innovation and productivity in Italian firms, by Bronwyn H. Hall, Francesca Lotti and Jacques Mairesse (July 2012).
- N. 875 *Family background, self-confidence and economic outcomes*, by Antonio Filippin and Marco Paccagnella (July 2012).
- N. 876 Banks' reactions to Basel-III, by Paolo Angelini and Andrea Gerali (July 2012).
- N. 877 *Exporters and importers of services: firm-level evidence on Italy*, by Stefano Federico and Enrico Tosti (September 2012).
- N. 878 Do food commodity prices have asymmetric effects on euro-area inflation?, by Mario Porqueddu and Fabrizio Venditti (September 2012).
- N. 879 Industry dynamics and competition from low-wage countries: evidence on Italy, by Stefano Federico (September 2012).
- N. 880 *The micro dynamics of exporting: evidence from French firms*, by Ines Buono and Harald Fadinger (September 2012).
- N. 881 On detecting end-of-sample instabilities, by Fabio Busetti (September 2012).
- N. 882 An empirical comparison of alternative credit default swap pricing models, by Michele Leonardo Bianchi (September 2012).
- N. 883 Learning, incomplete contracts and export dynamics: theory and evidence from French firms, by Romain Aeberhardt, Ines Buono and Harald Fadinger (October 2012).
- N. 884 Collaboration between firms and universities in Italy: the role of a firm's proximity to top-rated departments, by Davide Fantino, Alessandra Mori and Diego Scalise (October 2012).
- N. 885 *Parties, institutions and political budget cycles at the municipal level,* by Marika Cioffi, Giovanna Messina and Pietro Tommasino (October 2012).
- N. 886 Immigration, jobs and employment protection: evidence from Europe before and during the Great Recession, by Francesco D'Amuri and Giovanni Peri (October 2012).
- N. 887 A structural model for the housing and credit markets in Italy, by Andrea Nobili and Francesco Zollino (October 2012).
- N. 888 Monetary policy in a model with misspecified, heterogeneous and ever-changing expectations, by Alberto Locarno (October 2012).
- N. 889 *Does corporate taxation affect cross-country firm leverage?*, by Antonio De Socio and Valentina Nigro (November 2012).
- N. 890 *Start-up banks' default and the role of capital*, by Massimo Libertucci and Francesco Piersante (November 2012).
- N. 891 The predictive power of Google searches in forecasting unemployment, by Francesco D'Amuri and Juri Marcucci (November 2012).
- N. 892 A dynamic default dependence model, by Sara Cecchetti and Giovanna Nappo (November 2012).
- N. 893 *Externalities in interbank network: results from a dynamic simulation model*, by Michele Manna and Alessandro Schiavone (November 2012).

<sup>(\*)</sup> Requests for copies should be sent to:

Banca d'Italia – Servizio Studi di struttura economica e finanziaria – Divisione Biblioteca e Archivio storico – Via Nazionale, 91 – 00184 Rome – (fax 0039 06 47922059). They are available on the Internet www.bancaditalia.it.

- F. PANETTA, F. SCHIVARDI and M. SHUM, *Do mergers improve information? Evidence from the loan market*, Journal of Money, Credit, and Banking, v. 41, 4, pp. 673-709, **TD No. 521 (October 2004).**
- M. BUGAMELLI and F. PATERNÒ, *Do workers' remittances reduce the probability of current account reversals?*, World Development, v. 37, 12, pp. 1821-1838, **TD No. 573 (January 2006).**
- P. PAGANO and M. PISANI, *Risk-adjusted forecasts of oil prices*, The B.E. Journal of Macroeconomics, v. 9, 1, Article 24, **TD No. 585 (March 2006).**
- M. PERICOLI and M. SBRACIA, The CAPM and the risk appetite index: theoretical differences, empirical similarities, and implementation problems, International Finance, v. 12, 2, pp. 123-150, TD No. 586 (March 2006).
- R. BRONZINI and P. PISELLI, *Determinants of long-run regional productivity with geographical spillovers: the role of R&D, human capital and public infrastructure,* Regional Science and Urban Economics, v. 39, 2, pp.187-199, **TD No. 597 (September 2006).**
- U. ALBERTAZZI and L. GAMBACORTA, *Bank profitability and the business cycle*, Journal of Financial Stability, v. 5, 4, pp. 393-409, **TD No. 601 (September 2006).**
- F. BALASSONE, D. FRANCO and S. ZOTTERI, *The reliability of EMU fiscal indicators: risks and safeguards*, in M. Larch and J. Nogueira Martins (eds.), Fiscal Policy Making in the European Union: an Assessment of Current Practice and Challenges, London, Routledge, **TD No. 633 (June 2007).**
- A. CIARLONE, P. PISELLI and G. TREBESCHI, *Emerging Markets' Spreads and Global Financial Conditions*, Journal of International Financial Markets, Institutions & Money, v. 19, 2, pp. 222-239, **TD No. 637 (June 2007)**.
- S. MAGRI, *The financing of small innovative firms: the Italian case*, Economics of Innovation and New Technology, v. 18, 2, pp. 181-204, **TD No. 640 (September 2007).**
- V. DI GIACINTO and G. MICUCCI, The producer service sector in Italy: long-term growth and its local determinants, Spatial Economic Analysis, Vol. 4, No. 4, pp. 391-425, TD No. 643 (September 2007).
- F. LORENZO, L. MONTEFORTE and L. SESSA, *The general equilibrium effects of fiscal policy: estimates for the euro area*, Journal of Public Economics, v. 93, 3-4, pp. 559-585, **TD No. 652** (November 2007).
- Y. ALTUNBAS, L. GAMBACORTA and D. MARQUÉS, *Securitisation and the bank lending channel*, European Economic Review, v. 53, 8, pp. 996-1009, **TD No. 653** (November 2007).
- R. GOLINELLI and S. MOMIGLIANO, *The Cyclical Reaction of Fiscal Policies in the Euro Area. A Critical Survey of Empirical Research*, Fiscal Studies, v. 30, 1, pp. 39-72, **TD No. 654 (January 2008).**
- P. DEL GIOVANE, S. FABIANI and R. SABBATINI, What's behind "Inflation Perceptions"? A survey-based analysis of Italian consumers, Giornale degli Economisti e Annali di Economia, v. 68, 1, pp. 25-52, TD No. 655 (January 2008).
- F. MACCHERONI, M. MARINACCI, A. RUSTICHINI and M. TABOGA, *Portfolio selection with monotone mean*variance preferences, Mathematical Finance, v. 19, 3, pp. 487-521, **TD No. 664 (April 2008).**
- M. AFFINITO and M. PIAZZA, What are borders made of? An analysis of barriers to European banking integration, in P. Alessandrini, M. Fratianni and A. Zazzaro (eds.): The Changing Geography of Banking and Finance, Dordrecht Heidelberg London New York, Springer, TD No. 666 (April 2008).
- A. BRANDOLINI, On applying synthetic indices of multidimensional well-being: health and income inequalities in France, Germany, Italy, and the United Kingdom, in R. Gotoh and P. Dumouchel (eds.), Against Injustice. The New Economics of Amartya Sen, Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, TD No. 668 (April 2008).
- G. FERRERO and A. NOBILI, *Futures contract rates as monetary policy forecasts*, International Journal of Central Banking, v. 5, 2, pp. 109-145, **TD No. 681 (June 2008).**
- P. CASADIO, M. LO CONTE and A. NERI, Balancing work and family in Italy: the new mothers' employment decisions around childbearing, in T. Addabbo and G. Solinas (eds.), Non-Standard Employment and Qualità of Work, Physica-Verlag. A Sprinter Company, TD No. 684 (August 2008).
- L. ARCIERO, C. BIANCOTTI, L. D'AURIZIO and C. IMPENNA, *Exploring agent-based methods for the analysis* of payment systems: A crisis model for StarLogo TNG, Journal of Artificial Societies and Social Simulation, v. 12, 1, **TD No. 686 (August 2008).**
- A. CALZA and A. ZAGHINI, Nonlinearities in the dynamics of the euro area demand for M1, Macroeconomic Dynamics, v. 13, 1, pp. 1-19, **TD No. 690 (September 2008).**
- L. FRANCESCO and A. SECCHI, *Technological change and the households' demand for currency*, Journal of Monetary Economics, v. 56, 2, pp. 222-230, **TD No. 697 (December 2008).**

- G. ASCARI and T. ROPELE, *Trend inflation, taylor principle, and indeterminacy*, Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, v. 41, 8, pp. 1557-1584, **TD No. 708** (May 2007).
- S. COLAROSSI and A. ZAGHINI, *Gradualism, transparency and the improved operational framework: a look at overnight volatility transmission*, International Finance, v. 12, 2, pp. 151-170, **TD No. 710 (May 2009).**
- M. BUGAMELLI, F. SCHIVARDI and R. ZIZZA, *The euro and firm restructuring*, in A. Alesina e F. Giavazzi (eds): Europe and the Euro, Chicago, University of Chicago Press, **TD No. 716 (June 2009).**
- B. HALL, F. LOTTI and J. MAIRESSE, *Innovation and productivity in SMEs: empirical evidence for Italy*, Small Business Economics, v. 33, 1, pp. 13-33, **TD No. 718 (June 2009).**

- A. PRATI and M. SBRACIA, Uncertainty and currency crises: evidence from survey data, Journal of Monetary Economics, v, 57, 6, pp. 668-681, **TD No. 446 (July 2002).**
- L. MONTEFORTE and S. SIVIERO, *The Economic Consequences of Euro Area Modelling Shortcuts*, Applied Economics, v. 42, 19-21, pp. 2399-2415, **TD No. 458 (December 2002).**
- S. MAGRI, *Debt maturity choice of nonpublic Italian firms*, Journal of Money, Credit, and Banking, v.42, 2-3, pp. 443-463, **TD No. 574 (January 2006).**
- G. DE BLASIO and G. NUZZO, *Historical traditions of civicness and local economic development*, Journal of Regional Science, v. 50, 4, pp. 833-857, **TD No. 591 (May 2006).**
- E. IOSSA and G. PALUMBO, *Over-optimism and lender liability in the consumer credit market*, Oxford Economic Papers, v. 62, 2, pp. 374-394, **TD No. 598 (September 2006).**
- S. NERI and A. NOBILI, *The transmission of US monetary policy to the euro area,* International Finance, v. 13, 1, pp. 55-78, **TD No. 606 (December 2006).**
- F. ALTISSIMO, R. CRISTADORO, M. FORNI, M. LIPPI and G. VERONESE, *New Eurocoin: Tracking Economic Growth in Real Time*, Review of Economics and Statistics, v. 92, 4, pp. 1024-1034, **TD No. 631 (June 2007).**
- U. ALBERTAZZI and L. GAMBACORTA, *Bank profitability and taxation*, Journal of Banking and Finance, v. 34, 11, pp. 2801-2810, **TD No. 649** (November 2007).
- M. IACOVIELLO and S. NERI, *Housing market spillovers: evidence from an estimated DSGE model,* American Economic Journal: Macroeconomics, v. 2, 2, pp. 125-164, **TD No. 659 (January 2008).**
- F. BALASSONE, F. MAURA and S. ZOTTERI, *Cyclical asymmetry in fiscal variables in the EU*, Empirica, **TD** No. 671, v. 37, 4, pp. 381-402 (June 2008).
- F. D'AMURI, O. GIANMARCO I.P. and P. GIOVANNI, The labor market impact of immigration on the western german labor market in the 1990s, European Economic Review, v. 54, 4, pp. 550-570, TD No. 687 (August 2008).
- A. ACCETTURO, Agglomeration and growth: the effects of commuting costs, Papers in Regional Science, v. 89, 1, pp. 173-190, **TD No. 688 (September 2008).**
- S. NOBILI and G. PALAZZO, *Explaining and forecasting bond risk premiums*, Financial Analysts Journal, v. 66, 4, pp. 67-82, **TD No. 689 (September 2008).**
- A. B. ATKINSON and A. BRANDOLINI, *On analysing the world distribution of income*, World Bank Economic Review, v. 24, 1, pp. 1-37, **TD No. 701 (January 2009).**
- R. CAPPARIELLO and R. ZIZZA, Dropping the Books and Working Off the Books, Labour, v. 24, 2, pp. 139-162, **TD No. 702 (January 2009).**
- C. NICOLETTI and C. RONDINELLI, *The (mis)specification of discrete duration models with unobserved heterogeneity: a Monte Carlo study*, Journal of Econometrics, v. 159, 1, pp. 1-13, **TD No. 705** (March 2009).
- L. FORNI, A. GERALI and M. PISANI, *Macroeconomic effects of greater competition in the service sector: the case of Italy*, Macroeconomic Dynamics, v. 14, 5, pp. 677-708, **TD No. 706** (March 2009).
- V. DI GIACINTO, G. MICUCCI and P. MONTANARO, Dynamic macroeconomic effects of public capital: evidence from regional Italian data, Giornale degli economisti e annali di economia, v. 69, 1, pp. 29-66, TD No. 733 (November 2009).
- F. COLUMBA, L. GAMBACORTA and P. E. MISTRULLI, *Mutual Guarantee institutions and small business finance*, Journal of Financial Stability, v. 6, 1, pp. 45-54, **TD No. 735** (November 2009).
- A. GERALI, S. NERI, L. SESSA and F. M. SIGNORETTI, *Credit and banking in a DSGE model of the Euro Area,* Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, v. 42, 6, pp. 107-141, **TD No. 740 (January 2010).**
- M. AFFINITO and E. TAGLIAFERRI, Why do (or did?) banks securitize their loans? Evidence from Italy, Journal

of Financial Stability, v. 6, 4, pp. 189-202, TD No. 741 (January 2010).

- S. FEDERICO, Outsourcing versus integration at home or abroad and firm heterogeneity, Empirica, v. 37, 1, pp. 47-63, **TD No. 742** (February 2010).
- V. DI GIACINTO, *On vector autoregressive modeling in space and time*, Journal of Geographical Systems, v. 12, 2, pp. 125-154, **TD No. 746 (February 2010).**
- L. FORNI, A. GERALI and M. PISANI, *The macroeconomics of fiscal consolidations in euro area countries,* Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control, v. 34, 9, pp. 1791-1812, **TD No. 747** (March 2010).
- S. MOCETTI and C. PORELLO, *How does immigration affect native internal mobility? new evidence from Italy*, Regional Science and Urban Economics, v. 40, 6, pp. 427-439, **TD No. 748 (March 2010)**.
- A. DI CESARE and G. GUAZZAROTTI, An analysis of the determinants of credit default swap spread changes before and during the subprime financial turmoil, Journal of Current Issues in Finance, Business and Economics, v. 3, 4, pp., **TD No. 749** (March 2010).
- P. CIPOLLONE, P. MONTANARO and P. SESTITO, Value-added measures in Italian high schools: problems and findings, Giornale degli economisti e annali di economia, v. 69, 2, pp. 81-114, TD No. 754 (March 2010).
- A. BRANDOLINI, S. MAGRI and T. M SMEEDING, *Asset-based measurement of poverty*, Journal of Policy Analysis and Management, v. 29, 2, pp. 267-284, **TD No. 755** (March 2010).
- G. CAPPELLETTI, A Note on rationalizability and restrictions on beliefs, The B.E. Journal of Theoretical Economics, v. 10, 1, pp. 1-11, **TD No. 757** (April 2010).
- S. DI ADDARIO and D. VURI, Entrepreneurship and market size. the case of young college graduates in *Italy*, Labour Economics, v. 17, 5, pp. 848-858, **TD No. 775 (September 2010).**
- A. CALZA and A. ZAGHINI, *Sectoral money demand and the great disinflation in the US*, Journal of Money, Credit, and Banking, v. 42, 8, pp. 1663-1678, **TD No. 785 (January 2011).**

- S. DI ADDARIO, *Job search in thick markets*, Journal of Urban Economics, v. 69, 3, pp. 303-318, **TD No.** 605 (December 2006).
- F. SCHIVARDI and E. VIVIANO, *Entry barriers in retail trade*, Economic Journal, v. 121, 551, pp. 145-170, **TD** No. 616 (February 2007).
- G. FERRERO, A. NOBILI and P. PASSIGLIA, Assessing excess liquidity in the Euro Area: the role of sectoral distribution of money, Applied Economics, v. 43, 23, pp. 3213-3230, **TD No. 627** (April 2007).
- P. E. MISTRULLI, Assessing financial contagion in the interbank market: maximum entropy versus observed interbank lending patterns, Journal of Banking & Finance, v. 35, 5, pp. 1114-1127, TD No. 641 (September 2007).
- E. CIAPANNA, *Directed matching with endogenous markov probability: clients or competitors?*, The RAND Journal of Economics, v. 42, 1, pp. 92-120, **TD No. 665 (April 2008).**
- M. BUGAMELLI and F. PATERNÒ, *Output growth volatility and remittances*, Economica, v. 78, 311, pp. 480-500, **TD No. 673 (June 2008).**
- V. DI GIACINTO e M. PAGNINI, Local and global agglomeration patterns: two econometrics-based indicators, Regional Science and Urban Economics, v. 41, 3, pp. 266-280, **TD No. 674 (June 2008)**.
- G. BARONE and F. CINGANO, Service regulation and growth: evidence from OECD countries, Economic Journal, v. 121, 555, pp. 931-957, TD No. 675 (June 2008).
- R. GIORDANO and P. TOMMASINO, What determines debt intolerance? The role of political and monetary *institutions*, European Journal of Political Economy, v. 27, 3, pp. 471-484, **TD No. 700 (January 2009).**
- P. ANGELINI, A. NOBILI e C. PICILLO, *The interbank market after August 2007: What has changed, and why?*, Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, v. 43, 5, pp. 923-958, **TD No. 731 (October 2009).**
- L. FORNI, A. GERALI and M. PISANI, *The Macroeconomics of Fiscal Consolidation in a Monetary Union: the Case of Italy*, in Luigi Paganetto (ed.), Recovery after the crisis. Perspectives and policies, VDM Verlag Dr. Muller, **TD No. 747 (March 2010).**
- A. DI CESARE and G. GUAZZAROTTI, An analysis of the determinants of credit default swap changes before and during the subprime financial turmoil, in Barbara L. Campos and Janet P. Wilkins (eds.), The Financial Crisis: Issues in Business, Finance and Global Economics, New York, Nova Science Publishers, Inc., **TD No. 749 (March 2010).**
- A. LEVY and A. ZAGHINI, *The pricing of government guaranteed bank bonds*, Banks and Bank Systems, v. 6, 3, pp. 16-24, **TD No. 753 (March 2010).**

- G. GRANDE and I. VISCO, A public guarantee of a minimum return to defined contribution pension scheme members, The Journal of Risk, v. 13, 3, pp. 3-43, **TD No. 762 (June 2010).**
- P. DEL GIOVANE, G. ERAMO and A. NOBILI, *Disentangling demand and supply in credit developments: a survey-based analysis for Italy*, Journal of Banking and Finance, v. 35, 10, pp. 2719-2732, **TD No.** 764 (June 2010).
- G. BARONE and S. MOCETTI, With a little help from abroad: the effect of low-skilled immigration on the female labour supply, Labour Economics, v. 18, 5, pp. 664-675, **TD No. 766 (July 2010).**
- A. FELETTIGH and S. FEDERICO, *Measuring the price elasticity of import demand in the destination markets of italian exports*, Economia e Politica Industriale, v. 38, 1, pp. 127-162, **TD No. 776 (October 2010).**
- S. MAGRI and R. PICO, *The rise of risk-based pricing of mortgage interest rates in Italy*, Journal of Banking and Finance, v. 35, 5, pp. 1277-1290, **TD No. 778 (October 2010).**
- M. TABOGA, Under/over-valuation of the stock market and cyclically adjusted earnings, International Finance, v. 14, 1, pp. 135-164, **TD No. 780 (December 2010).**
- S. NERI, *Housing, consumption and monetary policy: how different are the U.S. and the Euro area?*, Journal of Banking and Finance, v.35, 11, pp. 3019-3041, **TD No. 807** (April 2011).
- V. CUCINIELLO, *The welfare effect of foreign monetary conservatism with non-atomistic wage setters*, Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, v. 43, 8, pp. 1719-1734, **TD No. 810 (June 2011).**
- A. CALZA and A. ZAGHINI, welfare costs of inflation and the circulation of US currency abroad, The B.E. Journal of Macroeconomics, v. 11, 1, Art. 12, **TD No. 812 (June 2011).**
- I. FAIELLA, *La spesa energetica delle famiglie italiane*, Energia, v. 32, 4, pp. 40-46, **TD No. 822 (September 2011).**
- R. DE BONIS and A. SILVESTRINI, The effects of financial and real wealth on consumption: new evidence from OECD countries, Applied Financial Economics, v. 21, 5, pp. 409–425, TD No. 837 (November 2011).

- F. CINGANO and A. ROSOLIA, *People I know: job search and social networks*, Journal of Labor Economics, v. 30, 2, pp. 291-332, **TD No. 600 (September 2006).**
- G. GOBBI and R. ZIZZA, Does the underground economy hold back financial deepening? Evidence from the italian credit market, Economia Marche, Review of Regional Studies, v. 31, 1, pp. 1-29, TD No. 646 (November 2006).
- S. MOCETTI, *Educational choices and the selection process before and after compulsory school*, Education Economics, v. 20, 2, pp. 189-209, **TD No. 691 (September 2008).**
- F. LIPPI and A. NOBILI, *Oil and the macroeconomy: a quantitative structural analysis,* Journal of European Economic Association, v. 10, 5, pp. 1059-1083, **TD No. 704** (March 2009).
- S. FEDERICO, *Headquarter intensity and the choice between outsourcing versus integration at home or abroad*, Industrial and Corporate Chang, v. 21, 6, pp. 1337-1358, **TD No. 742 (February 2010).**
- S. GOMES, P. JACQUINOT and M. PISANI, The EAGLE. A model for policy analysis of macroeconomic interdependence in the euro area, Economic Modelling, v. 29, 5, pp. 1686-1714, TD No. 770 (July 2010).
- A. ACCETTURO and G. DE BLASIO, Policies for local development: an evaluation of Italy's "Patti Territoriali", Regional Science and Urban Economics, v. 42, 1-2, pp. 15-26, TD No. 789 (January 2006).
- F. BUSETTI and S. DI SANZO, *Bootstrap LR tests of stationarity, common trends and cointegration,* Journal of Statistical Computation and Simulation, v. 82, 9, pp. 1343-1355, **TD No. 799 (March 2006).**
- S. NERI and T. ROPELE, *Imperfect information, real-time data and monetary policy in the Euro area,* The Economic Journal, v. 122, 561, pp. 651-674, **TD No. 802 (March 2011).**
- G. CAPPELLETTI, G. GUAZZAROTTI and P. TOMMASINO, *What determines annuity demand at retirement?*, The Geneva Papers on Risk and Insurance – Issues and Practice, pp. 1-26, **TD No. 808 (April 2011).**
- A. ANZUINI and F. FORNARI, *Macroeconomic determinants of carry trade activity*, Review of International Economics, v. 20, 3, pp. 468-488, **TD No. 817 (September 2011).**
- M. AFFINITO, *Do interbank customer relationships exist? And how did they function in the crisis? Learning from Italy*, Journal of Banking and Finance, v. 36, 12, pp. 3163-3184, **TD No. 826 (October 2011).**
- R. CRISTADORO and D. MARCONI, *Household savings in China*, Journal of Chinese Economic and Business Studies, v. 10, 3, pp. 275-299, **TD No. 838 (November 2011).**

- V. DI GIACINTO, G. MICUCCI and P. MONTANARO, Network effects of public transposrt infrastructure: evidence on Italian regions, Papers in Regional Science, v. 91, 3, pp. 515-541, TD No. 869 (July 2012).
- A. FILIPPIN and M. PACCAGNELLA, *Family background, self-confidence and economic outcomes,* Economics of Education Review, v. 31, 5, pp. 824-834, **TD No. 875 (July 2012).**

#### 2013

F. BUSETTI and J. MARCUCCI, *Comparing forecast accuracy: a Monte Carlo investigation*, International Journal of Forecasting, v. 29, 1, pp. 13-27, **TD No. 723 (September 2009).** 

#### FORTHCOMING

- M. BUGAMELLI and A. ROSOLIA, *Produttività e concorrenza estera*, Rivista di politica economica, **TD No.** 578 (February 2006).
- P. SESTITO and E. VIVIANO, *Reservation wages: explaining some puzzling regional patterns*, Labour, **TD No. 696 (December 2008).**
- P. PINOTTI, M. BIANCHI and P. BUONANNO, *Do immigrants cause crime?*, Journal of the European Economic Association, **TD No. 698 (December 2008).**
- F. CINGANO and P. PINOTTI, *Politicians at work. The private returns and social costs of political connections*, Journal of the European Economic Association, **TD No. 709 (May 2009).**
- Y. ALTUNBAS, L. GAMBACORTA and D. MARQUÉS-IBÁÑEZ, *Bank risk and monetary policy*, Journal of Financial Stability, **TD No. 712 (May 2009).**
- G. BARONE and S. MOCETTI, *Tax morale and public spending inefficiency*, International Tax and Public Finance, **TD No. 732 (November 2009).**
- I. BUONO and G. LALANNE, *The effect of the Uruguay Round on the intensive and extensive margins of trade*, Journal of International Economics, **TD No. 743 (February 2010).**
- G. BARONE, R. FELICI and M. PAGNINI, *Switching costs in local credit markets*, International Journal of Industrial Organization, **TD No. 760 (June 2010).**
- E. COCOZZA and P. PISELLI, Testing for east-west contagion in the European banking sector during the financial crisis, in R. Matoušek; D. Stavárek (eds.), Financial Integration in the European Union, Taylor & Francis, TD No. 790 (February 2011).
- E. GAIOTTI, Credit availablility and investment: lessons from the "Great Recession", European Economic Review, **TD No. 793 (February 2011).**
- A. DE SOCIO, *Squeezing liquidity in a "lemons market" or asking liquidity "on tap"*, Journal of Banking and Finance, **TD No. 819 (September 2011).**
- O. BLANCHARD and M. RIGGI, Why are the 2000s so different from the 1970s? A structural interpretation of changes in the macroeconomic effects of oil prices, Journal of the European Economic Association, **TD No. 835 (November 2011).**
- S. FEDERICO, *Industry dynamics and competition from low-wage countries: evidence on Italy*, Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics, **TD No. 879 (September 2012).**
- F. D'AMURI and G. PERI, Immigration, jobs and employment protection: evidence from Europe before and during the Great Recession, Journal of the European Economic Association, TD No. 886 (October 2012).